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To Mr. Wayne M. Collins _.——

\

The undersigned \ IASATRU gpopge DOIVY wishes

to be included in the mass suit to restore my United

States citizenship.,

IpreaselTerize Soc

Signaturey

Name MASARU

-

Present Address XKewamulkal yamapguchi

el ¢

Date of birth March,10,1912 eatt]

Note ! State whether or not received a letter
of approval on citizenshi® renounciation from the

Attorney General.
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Flle - "Aug. 6, 1954

Mr. Collins said the air letter
of June 23, 1954 will have answered
this letter.
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THE FOREIGN SERVICE
OF THE
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

American Consulate,
11-1, Yakuin Horibata,
Fukuoka, Japan,

Mr. Masaru Doi,
¢/o Shimazu Zaimokuten,
Teppo-koji, Nishimi,
Iwakuni-shi.

Sir:

Acknowledgment is made of your recent undated letter inquiring
about your citizenship case.

The applications for passport which you executed at this office
on April 7, 1953 and on December 6, 1955, have not been sent to the
Department of State for decision. It is believed that you were pre-
viously told so. The reason your applications were not sent to the
Department of State was that, as you were previously informed by a
letter from the American Consulate General, Kobe, dated October 18,
1950, the application for passport which you executed at Kobe on
May 22, 1950, was once disapproved by the Department of State.

Since you have submitted no substantial evidence to show that you
were actually coerced into renouncing your American citizenship, no
useful purpose would be served by resubmitting your application to
the Department of State.

Very truly yours,

v "

|

|
‘ %in.ﬁillia

rican Vice Consul




WAYNE M. COLLINS

ATTORNEY AT LAW
MILLS TOWER, 220 BUSH STREET
SAN FRANCISCO 4, CALIFORNIA

TELEPHONE GARFIELD 1-1218

August 3, 1957

Mr. George Masaru Dol
¢/o0 Shimazu Zaimokuten
Teppo-Koji, Nishimi
Iwakuni-shi, Yamaguchli Ken, Japan
Dear

Mr. Doi:

I am returning herewith via air mail the original
of the affidavit which I have prepared for you from
your answers to my questionnaire., I would thank you
to read the answers therein and if you find them to
be true, you should take the original to a U.S. Consul
in Japan and there sign and swear to it, Thereupon
you should return it to me promptly by air mail for
proceassing to the Justice Department,

A copy for you to keep for future reference is
being sent via regular mail,

If you should make any additions or eorrections
in the arffidavit, please inform me of the changes in
& letter enclosing the affidavit,

Very truly yours,




WAYNE M. COLLINS

ATTORNEY AT LAW
MILLS TOWER, 220 BUSH STREET
SAN FRANCISCO 4, CALIFORNIA

TELEPHONE GARFIELD 1-1218

August 6, 1957

Mr. George Masaru Doi

¢/o Shimazu Zaimokuten
Teppo-Koji, Nishimi

Iwakuni-shli, Yamaguchi Ken, Japan

Dear yr, poi:

Enclosed find your copy of the Affidavit,
the original of which was sent air mail, You
should keep this copy for future reference,

Very truly yours,




WAYNE M, COLLINS
Attorney at Law
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California

Telephone GArfield 1-5827

August 21, 1957

Mr, George Masaru Dol

¢/o Shimazu Zaimokuten
Teppo-KoJji, Nishimi
Iwakuni-shi, Yamaguchl Ken
Japan

Dear Mr. Dol:

The affidavit forms you recently returned to me have
been examined and compared with the records in my office.
The forms appeared to me to be in good order. In conse-
qguence, I have delivered them to the U,S., Attorney's office
for processing through the Justice Department,

On February 21, 1957, Assistant U,S, Attorney General
George C, Doub, assured me that the Department would view
renunciants cases with more liberality in granting adminis-
trative clearance than heretofore,

Because a fairly large number of affidavits of other
renunciants also are being processed it may take several
months before a final decislon in your case is made by the
Justice Department,.

Therefore, I suggest that you wait patiently for the
decision in your case which I shall relay to you just as
soon as I receive information from the Department.

If the Justice Department clears you by this adminis-
trative method a judgment cancelling your renunciation and
declaring you to be a U,S, citizen will be entered in the
mass suits,

If the Justice Department does not clear you by this
administrative method, your case then can be set down for
an individual court hearing, ’

Veri/foIY -t SRR




COPY FROM
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
CIVIL DIVISIOD oif
WASHINGTON 28, D, C.

L4

DEC 26 1957

gﬂl‘gt ﬁ,o&dv.nmn, et al.

Furuya, et al v. et al. (Consolidated
actions - Civil Nos. 25294 & 25295). Renunciation

of Citizenship, Former Title 8 U.S.C, 801(1).

' to your letter of August 21, 1957, eaclosing
affidavit of the above-named subject for a determination as to whether

request for our views. On September 22, 1950, we advised that Departaent
that in the event of litigation inwvol

This subject was bora Harch 10, 1912 in the
in Japan from 1918 to 1928 where he received his
records of the War Relocation Authority indicate
negative answers to questions 27 and 28 of the
He applied for repatriation on July 19, 1943 snd
this latter period being subsequent to the termina
This subject was a member of both the Hokoku Seinen-dan and the Sokuji
Kikoku Hoshi-dan and served as an officer of the former organisaetion. 2t
his renunciation hearing subject affirmed that his loyalties were with




JmMc%mmdnmtwaJmmwumm. On
Mareh 13, 1945 subject requested approval by the Attorney General of his
renunciation, In an interview on May 1k, 1945 with an Immigration and
Naturalization Patrol Inspector subject stated that he considered the
United States an enemy country. In his affidavit submitted by your
mmmutmumtummm«muw;
harm if he failed to rencunce. In view of the facts hereinbefore recited
we must conclude that subject's statements are self-serving, and we theree
tmmwmuouumdumlmummtd
State, that this subject's case may not be considered as coming within the
coverage of the decision in the Murakami case.

In accordance with our above-referred to letter of September 21,
1953, we sttach the original and three copies of the affidavit for return
to Mr. Collins,

Yours very truly,

GEORGE COCHRAN DOUB
Assistant Attorney Ceneral

Civil Division

By
Enoch E. Ellison

Chief, Japanese Claims Seetion




WAYNE M, COLLINS
Attorney at Law
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California

March 20, 1958
VIA AIR LETTER

Mr. George Masaru Doi

c¢/o Shimazu Zaimokuten
Teppo-KoJji, Nishimij

Iwakuni Shi, Yamaguchi Ken, Japan

Dear Mr. Doi:

The Justice Department rejected your affidavits and denied you
administrative clearance because it reached a conclusion that
your renunciation of U.S. citizenship was not caused by fear,
coercion or duress. It states that the reasons for its refusal
to give you administrative clearance are as follows:

"...this subject gave negative answers to questions 27 and 28
of the Army-WRA régistration form. He aﬁplied for repatriation on
July 19, 1943 and again on August 31, 1945, this latter period
belng subsequent to the termination of hostilities., This subject
was a member of both the Hokoku Seinen-dan and the Sokuji Kikoku
Hoshi-dan and served as an officer of the former organization,.
At his renunciation hearing subject affirmed that his loyalties
were with Japan and expressed his desire for a Japanese victory in
the war. On March 13, 1945 subject requested approval by the Attor-
ney General of his renunciation. In an interview on May 14, 1945
with an Immigration and Naturalization Patrol Inspector subject
stated that he considered the United States an enemy country. In
his affidavit submitted by your letter subject stated that he
renouno%d because of threats of bodily harm if he failed to renounce.,

I believe that by preparing a new affidavit going into more details
that you yet may receive administrative clearance. In order to en-
able me to prepare another affidavit for you I would thank you to
answer the following questions fully and to the best of your abllity
and send your answers to me promptly by air mail

1. What were your reasons for g ving negative answers to Questions
27 and 28 of the Army-WRA registration form?

2. What were your reasons for applying for repatriation on July 19,
1943 and again on Aug. 31, 1945 after the war? ,

3. Why, at your renunciation hearing, did you say that your loyalties
were with Japan and wished Japan to win the war?

4, Why, on March 13, 1945, did you request the Attorney General
to approve your application for renunciation?

5. Why, on May 14, 1945, in an interview with the Immig. and
Naturalization Patrol Inspector say that you considered U.S. an
enemy country?

Very truly yours,




May 17, 1958

Mr. George Masaru Doi

c/o Shimazu Zaimokuten
Teppo-Koji, Nishimi
Iwakuni-shi, Yamaguchi ken,
Japan

DearMI'o Doi:

Enclosed find your copy of the Affidavit,
the original of which was sent air mail. You
should keep this copy for future reference.

Very truly yours,




May 17, 1958

Mr. George Masaru Doi

c/o Shimazu Zaimokuten
Teppo-Koji, Nishimi
Iwakuni-shi, Yamaguchi ken,
Japan

Dear Mr. Doi:

I am returning herewith via air mail the original
of the affidavit which I have prepared for you from your
answers to my questionnaire. I would thank you to read
the answers therein and if you find them to be true,
you should take the original to a U. 8. Consul in Japan
and there sign and swear to it. Thereupon you should

return it to me promptliy by air mail for processing to
the Justice Department. :

A copy for you to keef for future reference is
being sent via regular mail.

If you should make any additions or corrections
in the arffidavit, please inform me of the changes in a
letter enclosing the affidavit,

Very truly yours,







WAYEE M, COLLING

Attorney at Law
Mills Tower, 220 Bush 3treet
San Prancisco 4, Califoranla
Telephone: Garfield 1-5827

June 16, 1958

Mr. George Masaru Doi

¢/o Shimazu Zaimokuten
Teppo~Koji, Nishimi
Iwakuni-shi, Yamaguchi Ken
Japan

Dear Mr. Doi:

The Affidavit forus you recently sent to me have been
exasined and compared with the records in my office. The
forms appear to me to be in good order. In conseguence, I
have delivered thea to the U.3, Attorney's office for pro-
¢essing through the Justice Department,

A soon ag the Justice Department inforas me of its
Geclsion I shall let you know, DBecause of the fairly large
nunber of affidavits of cother renuncisnts alse being processed
1% probably will take several months before a final decision
in your cése is made by the Justice Department.

Therefore, I suggest that you walt patiently for word
from the Justice Lepartment which I shall relay te you Just
48 soon as I receive Inforsation as to what decimion it
aakes in your case.

If the Justice Department clears you by this adminis-
trative methed I shall send you a copy of the letter 1t
transalis o the State Department se that you can file the
¢opy of that letter with the U.8. Consul at the time you
make an appliestion te him for a U.3. passport., I the
passport then ilasues you will be able %o return to the
United States as a U,S. eitizen,

If the Justice Departaent does not clear you for pass-
pors purposes you, nevertheless, then can apall to a V.5,
Consul in Jepsn for & "Cerviflcate of Identity” and I will
set your trial for hearing in court and send $o you or to
the Consul & statement from the Clerk of the Court showing
that your Individual hearing will be held within aix months.
You tg::‘;an return to the U.S5. on that sertificate for
your .

Very truly yours,
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WAYNE M, COLLINS
Attorney at Law
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California

September 19, 1958
(VIA AIRLETTER)

Mr. George Masaru Doi

¢/o Shimazu Zaimokuten
Teppo-KoJji, Nishimi
Iwakuni-shi, Yamaguchi Ken
Japan

Dear Mr., Doi:
The Justice Department has advised me as follows:

"You are advised that Harumi and George Matsumli Arashige
stated in their affidavits submitted by your letter of December
17, 1954, that this subJect was among the persons who exerted
influence upon them to renounce., Mr. Arashige stated that he
was particularly afraid of this subject and that he was 'out to
get me and I feared what he and his group might do to me.'!

"Shigeru Kosako stated in his affidavit resubmitted by
your letter of April 22, 1957, that this subject was among the
persons who 'told him to renounce immediately.' He further
stated that this subject was among the persons who threatened
to beat him up if he failed to renounce.

"Toshiko Naito stated in her affidavit submitted by your
letter of October 20, 1955, that this subject accused her of be-~
ing a spy (for the War Relocation Authority Officials) because
she refused to join the Pro-Japanese organizations and she
states that she renounced because of fear of this subject and
other leaders within her block.

"Toshio Tsubakimoto stated in his affidavit submitted by
your letter of July 22, 1957, that this subject was among the
persons who influenced him to renounce.

"In view of the serious nature of the above charges against
this subject, we believe that we should defer the processing of
his affidavit until such time as he submits under oath an
explanation concerning the matter.,"

Therefore, I shall prepare a supplemental affidavit for you.
In order to enable me to do so, I suggest that you write me
fully and tell me what you know and give me your answers to the
alleged charges made by Harumj gnd George Matsuml Arashige,
Shigeru Kosako, Toshiko Naito,? oshio Tsubakimoto., If you will
write to me as quickly as possible your answers to the charges
and your explanation of the statements they made, I will prepare
a supplemental affidavit which may enable you to obtain adminis-
trative clearance. Please write out your answers in detail and
send them to me immediately via airmail.

Very truly yours,




, Georqe
Do1, MasARY

Teppo ¥oji, Nishimi
Iwakuni-shi, Yamaguchi Ken
Japan

30 September 1958

Mr. Wayne M, Collins
Attorney at Law

Mills Tower, 200 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California

Dear Sir:

As requested, I am sending you the following answers to the charges made
against me and I hope that they will suffice in proving myv innocence.

1. The names, Harumi and George Matsumi Arashige, are unfamiliar to me
and I cannot recollect having met or known such persons. I believe that these
persons have made use of my name as it is short and easyv to remember,

2, Shigeru Kosako and I were in the same coneentration camp -t Tule lLake,
Newell Center, California and I lived in the next house to him, I came to know
him in a short period of time and we both worked in the mess hall. I do mot
know whether or not he joined the organization before I did, and have no know-
ledge whatsoever of evervhaving persuaded or even talking to him in joining the
organiaation or to renouce and be repatriated to Japan., The head of the organi-
zation, Mr, Itabashi, and Mr. Saito were in the same camp and he must have mis-
taken me for one of them, much to my inconvenience. Mr, Kosako frequently ¥isited
me in my room and I myself visited him at his room and helped him with some
carpentry work, and as werwere on such friendly terms I am surprised to learn
that he has made use of my name and had made such false charges against me.
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H. OKITA

Mr. Wayne M. Collins
Attorney at Law
1300 Mills Tower
220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, Calif.
Re; George Masaru Doi--Japan

Dear Mr. Collins:

Last evening I contacted Mr. George Matsumi Arashige, 1960 Windsor
Street, Pasadena, California, telephone no. Sycamore 76646 in reference
to the above renunciant.

Mr . Arashige stated to me that 'he and his wife became friendly with
Mr. Masaru Doi=-Kibei in the Poston Relocation Center. They Were segre-
gated together to the Tule Lake Center and resided in the same block 67.
Mr. Arashige idenitifies Mr. Doi as having a wife and her maiden name
was Nishlyama. He 1s unable to recall whether her first name was Michiko
or Misako. He furthur states that Mr. Doi repatriated from Santa Fe,
while his wife repatriatedfrom Tule Diake and she passed away in Japan.
Also Mrs. Doi's brother likewise repatriated to Japan, and one of her
brother remained in the United States and resides now in Pasadena.

Mr. Arashige states that Mr, Doi was a good person, who was quite
amiable during the time he knew him. He stateﬁwhg came to his quarter
everyday while 1n Tule, but thig. relationship abruptly ‘ceased when
Mr. Do1™J61ined the.Hoshi. Dan.and Mr, Arashige did not become a member.

He cannot fathom what the reasons were, but he is of the opinion that
Mr. Doi must haye been cautioned by other Dan members not to associate
wiﬁﬁfhim It is also_possible that he was fearful.of-ill-treatment
erm his _own.group and also there was the likelihood that he did not
wish to cause us embaraasment.or trouble from the other dan members.

Mr. Arashige is of the opinion that Mr. Masaru Doi was notthe
leader of the movement, but he was influenced by an Issei in Block 67,
who pressured Mr., Doi to join the dan. Also he might have had something
to do with the abrupt termination'of frieedly relationship. Mr. Arashige
cannot recall the game of this Issei, but he resided in block 67 and
he came from either Olymgéa{pwwmhcgma, Washington. He agitated and
1nf1uencé3“m§ny in block 67 to oin and repatriate, and likewlse renoune
, but he was“#6t sent to any ol 1€ THEeTTMent camp and he did not
repatriate to Japan. Mr. Doi did not urge Mr. Arashige to join the dan
directly, but he took a hint that unless he did join the dan he will
not be accpeted by their group in the same block.

Very truly yours,

e cin_




October 22, 1958

Mr., George Masaru Dol
Teppo KoJji, Nishimi
Iwakuni-shi, Yamaguchli Ken
Japan

Dear Mr, Doi:

I am enclosing herewith the original of an affidavit which 1is the
supplement to your affidavit of May 22, 1958, which I would thank you to
read and if you find the same to contain a correct statement of facts you
should take it to the nearest U.S. Consul and there sign it in the pres-
ence of the U.S. Consul and swear to it and have the Consul affix his
seal thereto and thereupon return to me promptly for processing to the
Justice Department.

A copy for you to keep in your possession is being sent via regular

mail,

/

For your information, George Matsumi Arashige and his wife, Harumi
Arashige, presently live in Pasadena, California, Both of them remember
you well, They lived in Block 6712-B at Tule Lake. Both of them state
that they knew you well while you were at the Poston Relocation Center,
that they were sent to the Tule Lake Center and resided in Block 67 where
you resided with your wife whose maiden name was Nishiyama. They state
that your wife's name was something like Michiko or Misako. They state
also that you were sent to Santa Fe and repatriated from there to Japan
and that your wife repatriated from Tule Lake and passed away in Japan.
They also state that your wife's brother likewise repatriated to Japan
and one of her brothers remained in the United States and presently lives
in Pasadena, California. Mr. Arashige states that while you were in Tule
Lake you came to visit him at his quarters almost every day up to the time
that you jJoined the Hoshi Dan and that from that time on that you and the
Arashiges were no longer on friendly terms and he attributes that to the
fact that you may not have wished as a dan member to cause him embarass-
ment or cause him trouble from other dan members. He tells me that he
believes you were influenced into Joining the dan and renouncing through
the influence of an Issei in Block 67 whose name he does not recall, but
he does state that the Isseli came either from Olympia or Tacoma, Washing-
ton, and that that Issel remained in the Unlted States. Mr. Arashige
states that you informed him that your presence in the block was not wel-
comed unless you were a member of the dan and renounced citizenship.

Although in your letter of 30 September 1958 you stated that the
names of George Matsumi Arashige and Harumil Arashige were unfamilliar to
you, I believe this information will refresh your recollection. There-




George Masaru Doi 10/22/58

fore, I believe that the information I have placed in the enclosed affi-
davit with reference to the Arashiges is correct in its particulars and
is, I believe, a proper explanation. However, if you are of the opinion
that any statement contained in that affidavit with reference to the so-
called charges of the Arashiges or others is incorrect, I would thank
you to let me know so that I may delete 1t from the affidavit, If, 3
however, you find that the affidavit contains a correct statement in

its entirety I suggest that you take it before a U.S. Consul promptly
and there sign and swear to it and return 1t to me.

Very truly yours,




October 22, 1958

Mr. George Masaru Doi
Teppo KoJi, Nishimi
Iwakuni-shi, Yamaguchi Ken
Japan

DeR® . Dot:

Enclosed find your copy of the Affidavit, the

original of which was sent air mail., You should keep

this clipy for future reference.

Very truly yours,
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WAYNE M, CCOLLINS
Attorney at Law
Millls Tower, 220 Bush ftrsetl
Ssn FPrancisco &, Califernia

November 13, 1658

Mr. George Masaru Doi

c/o Shimazu Zaimokuten
Teppo-Koji, Nishimi
Iwakuni-shi, Yamaguchi-ken
Japan :

Dear Mr. Doi:

The Affidavit Torams you recently sent o me have been
exaained and compared with the records in ay office. The
forag appesr to me Lo be in good order, In conseguance, I
have delivered them to the VU.3. Attorney's office for processing
through the Justice Depariment,

Az soon as the Justice Department inforas wme of Lfta
gdecision I shall let you know, Because of the fairly large
nusber of affidavits of other renunciasnta also being processed
it probably will take seversl months before a final deolsion
in your case is made by the Justice Dapartment,

Therefore, I suggest that you welt patiently for word from
the Juatice Departsent which I shall relay to you Just as soon
as I receive information as to what decision it makes in your
case,

If the Justise Departuent clears you by this administretive
method I shall send you & copy of She letter it transmits to the
Gvate Department so that you can file the copy of that letter
with the U,.8., Consul at the timeé you make an application to him
for a V.8, pasgport. I the passport then issues you will be
able to return t¢ the United Jtates as a U,8. c¢ltizen,

If the Juatioce Department does not clear you for passport
purposes you‘ neveriheless, then can epply to a U.8. Conaul in
Japan for & "Certificate of ldentity” and I will set your trial
for ‘hearing in court and send to you or to the Consul & stabe-
sent from the Clerk of the Court showing Shat your individuasl
bearing will be held within six sonths., You then can return io
the U.5., on that certificate for your srial.

Very truly yours,




WAYNE M. COLLINS
Attorney at Law
Mills Tower
220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California

January 7, 1959

Mr. George Masaru Doi

¢/o Shimazu Zaimokuten
Teppo-Koji, Nishimi, Iwakuni-shi
Yamaguchi-ken, Japan

Dear Mr. Doi:

You have been successful in the administrative remedy
pursued 1n your case. The Justice Department has reached
the conclusion that you personally renounced citizenship
because of fear, coercion and duress. Therefore, it is
willing to withdraw the offer of proof it made against you
in the mass class equity suits whereupon a judgment can be
entered in your favor in the U.S. District Court cancelling
your renunciation on the ground of duress and declaring you
to be a citizen of the United States.

As soon as a large enough number of persons have been
cleared administratively such a judgment will be entered for
{ou. When the judgment is entered I shall let you know by

etter.

I am enclosing a copy of the transmittal letter of the
Justice Department (Attorney General) which was sent to the
Department of State (Passport Office.) You should take the
enclosed copy of the transmittal letter promptly to the
Onited States Consul in Japan nearest you and there apg%z
Tor a U.S. passport if you have not already done so. The
U.S. Consul will issue a U.S. Passport to you which will show
on its face that you are a citizen of the United States.

When you receive the U.S. passport from the U.S. Consul
you can make your own arrangements to return to the United
States. You should write and let me know your U.S. address
and the time you expect to return to the United States.

If you have a spouse (wife or husband) who is an alien
such person can enter the United States as a ''monquota immi-
grant' because you are a U.S. citizen. An application can
be made to the nearest U.S. Consul in Japan for a nonquota
immigrant visa for such spouse.

If your spouse (wife or husband) is a renunciant who
does not recover U.S. citizenship administratively through
the Justice Department or by court trial, or does not wish




further to try to recover U.S. citizenship, such a spouse,
nevertheless, can elect to be an alien and can obtain a non-
quota Immigrant visa from the nearest U.S. Consul and can
Yeturn to the U.S. because he or she i1s the spouse of a U.S.
citizen.

If your spouse is an alien or a renunciant who does not
recover citizenship but becomes an alien who returns to the
United States as a nonquota immigrant he or she here in course
oi Eime becomes eligible to apply for naturalization as a U.S.
citizen. 4

It is my conclusion that in due course of time Congress
will enact a new law authorizing the return of property or
its approximate value to aliens whose property was seized and
confiscated during the war under the provisions of the Trading
with the Enemy Act.

1f you intend to remain in Japan for a while you must
be careful not to commit any act whereby you might lose U.S.
citizenship. You were informed by me in previous letters of
var%ous acts of expatriation whereby a U.S. citizenship can
be lost.

If you have dual citizenship you can denounce (renounce)
Japanese nationality. This can be done by signing a renuncia-
tion form before a Japanese consular officer in the U.S. or
before an authorized Japanese Government office in Japan.

Very truly yours,




UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

WASHINGTON, D. C.

and Refer wéncl%l;&gNmbu
1u6-5hi1’5
93-1-1320

DEC 22 133¢

Robert H. Schnacke, Esquire
United States Attorney

L22 Post Office Building
Seventh and Mission Streets
San Francisco 1, Califormia

Re; G€orge Masaru Doi
Your ref: Abo et al v. Rogers et al, Furuya
et al v. Rogers et al. (Consolidated actions -
Civil Nos. 2529k & 25295). Renunciation of
Citizenship, Former Title 8 U.S.C. 801(1).

Dear Mr. Schnacke:

This is in response to your letter of November 13, 1958, enclosing
] affidavit for a determination as to whether the case of the
above-named renunciant may be considered as coming within the coverage
of the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the case of Acheson v. Murskami,
176 F. 24 953, in accordance with a letter from this Department dated
September 21, 1953, to Mr. Wayne M. Collins.

We bave examined the affidavit, together with pertinent Governmental
files and are of the opinion that the case of the subject affiant may be
considered as coming within the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the
above case.

We have informed the Department of State of our present view by
letter, three copies of which are enclosed herewith. If you disagree
with our action please so advise us promptly in order that we may
recall our clearance from the Department of State before action is
taken thereon. If you do not disagree, please forward two of the copies
to Mr. Collins, and enter into the arrangements necessary to dispose of
the case in accordance with the procedure outlined in the sbove-mentioned
letter of September 21, 1953, as modified by this Department's letter to
you dated June 9, 1955. We shall appreciate your forwarding to this
office a copy of the stipulation and judgment when record entry of the
same has been accomplished.




The original and one copy of the subject's a.ffidavif.m returned
to you herewith.

Yours very truly,

Assistant Attorney Gemeral

Civil Division

By:
Enoch E. Ellison
Chief, Japenese Claims Section

Enclosures:
Original and copy
-t A
ot ‘ffi“:‘gi&mrn. 1958 and October 28, 1958,

to Department of State.
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together with copy of our letter to the Unitod Stetes Attorney for the

insch £. Ellison
Chief, Japansse Clalns Section
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AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

1. Name Date of Birth
Masaru, DOI 10 Merch 1912

2. If born prior to December 1, 1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese Where
nationality?

No.

3. If born since December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit: -

Date Purpose

From 1938 To 1926 My mother took me to Japan in the hope of giving me Japane-

1929 1931 se education, it was not my voluntary desire. Perhaps, in
the interest of my permanent residenee in U.S., she thou-

—ginritconvenierxt—md—mﬁor—me—tc_‘manese language and have general know-
aners—while I -was young. i

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

——The—edueetion—i—retemd—m—.}qmas—mm'wﬁat is given 1 .
School g Perigﬁ‘olp Xttgaaa ce school

. Twemichi Pri Schood . ¥ hi Cit From 1918 a2 192
Imamichi Higher Primary School,Yamaguchi 192l 1926
city.

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

Morals, Arthmetics, History, Geography, Science, Japanese, Music,
Gnmastics, Drawing, Handecraft, and Penmanship.

6. Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan?. ... If so, give date , and your reasons for so

applying:  The facilities of Yuma Centre s Poston Arisona were extremely poor. In addition, the
temperature averaged around 130 degrees. My eldest daughter died of a disease after suffer-
ing of a week. It was beyond my understanding why I was detained in such a place despite the
fact that I have American citizenship. The unbearably high temperature and fears arising out
of wmany apprehensions drove me to determine to apply for repatriation.

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you
allegiance to the United States? v would swear unqualified allegiance?
€S.

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? If so, give your reasons:

Probably I expressed my will not to swear unqualified allegiance to US, but
my memory fails me in this respecty If I did, I can assert it was made under the
infulence of was psycology and undefinable fears.

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and express your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you?........................ If so, state
when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor:

Iater on, I changed my mind and desired to swear unqualified allegiance to US, for
I thought it quite natural for a person of American eitizenship to do so. But due to the

fear of sanctions by the erganization and the strict surveillance among the menbership, I
could not get, before my repatriation, any chance to express my desire formally,




-
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(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake? If so, give reasons:
Because of the unspeakable and unsolutary tewperature at Yuma, I felt much anxiety
about the health of wy wife who was then pregnant with Tetsuo, my eldest son , and about
that of mine who had an attack of a fever soon after our arrival the Yuma Centre.
Therefore, in the thought that it would be better for both of us to be moved to the
Tule Iake Centre, I expressed iy unwillingness to swear ungQualified allegiance to US.

8. (A) G Period of_
WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS: Membership

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)
Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)
Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)
Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)
Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)
Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940
Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)
" Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)
Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
-studying in Japan) . g
~ Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)
Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)
Northwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples
Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)
Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan
Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan
Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan L5-19L6

(B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

At the pusuasion by Itabashi, 67, 16E, Tule lake, Newell, California, who

was a member of HokokW Suiflemdan, I joined that organization without the slightest
knowledge of it being an illegal organigzation.

»i

o

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held: \
Chief of the Training Department: I was appointed to thi post/ without any
previous consultation. Therefore, for the reason that due to gy poor educational
background, I was not equal to the task, I often requested to/ release wyself from
the post, but it was rejected. Hence I remained in office a

DErs. 7
date and reasons for so doing:




No. 2«4 " "Wave yob &ver rénsunced Japanaae‘nntiOnalitg?

No. I thought there no absolute need of renouncing
Japangse citizenship, because I deterningd to live
”mntxy in U,8, ) ! X
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was |
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

As mentioned in (C), my appointment being made withcut my knowledge, I

expressed my desire to resign from that office many times, but my request was
rejected.

(F) If iou at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain full:

eagerly desired to discontinue my menbership in consideration of my ed’&cation which
was beneath my post as chief of the Training Department and of my natural aversion to speak
before the assemblage of peaple. Besides I wisted to devote myself to the taking care of

my wife who was at that time in the family way. I reQuested the beaders to permit my resig-
nation, but I was given refusal, which oblized me to remain in office.

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing:

If my memory serves me right, it was in 19)5 that wy application
for renounciation was made., At that time, however, I had not yet reached a final
decision as to this matter, and therefore I thick the said application wes
submitted in the name of the organization.

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:

Try as I may, I cannot recall anything about this matter.

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:

As my application was submitted in the Iorm of mass application
by the organization, I did not take any action to retract it for fear of
subsequent sanction's. The another reason is that as it was impossible to
foresee when such a fearful conditien would terminate, I was extremely
solicitous about the future of wy family.

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

If such fears had not continued, I would have gladly cancelled my application.
However, I was afraid of sanctions which were sure to be inflicted upon me in case of
my taking action to cancel it against the will of the organization. I was, indeed, in
such a worry that I could not bring myself to make efforts for the cancellation.

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the

reasons for the delay in making such request: ith a view to cancelling my application, I applied to Fu-
kuoka Consulate for passage to US, but I was informed that the application could not be acce=-
pted. I have made application for cancellation through Mr. Wayne M. Collins, atterney at law,

Eisidin Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street, San Francisco ly" California. On the other hand I have
50 submitted an application for cancellation through Fukuoka Consulate.
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully B S eparate sheet
if necessary. )

It was because I thought that all the Japanese would
repatriated sooner or later considering they were segregated
various centres despite of their American citizenship.

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

My eldest dauthter died of illness at ¥ ) o roted from
my wife and,children who were segregated at Tulg { moved to
North Dakota. Therefore I felt great anxiety aj g@houcht we could be
reunited if I returned to Japan. <

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action
Answer Yes or No
If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor.

r 4
11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forgd he United § fill in the following:

1 enlisted (or was drafted) on

State the date

and received my Discharge

I still am in such service ;5 I was released
Answer Yes or No i

[/

on

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since tk ou voluntecs military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered. ‘ {

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the 35 bwn to you.

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service J§ alg Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
for the rejection if known to you.

12. If any member of your family has served or ng i ary or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of d v mber of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Servjl : ‘ Serial Number

Japan
Prefecture of Fukuoka
City of Fukuoka

Consulate of the Unitedj A I,U !) p o

(.éigna;;:re in full of applicant)

me th1813 ........... day of...... JUI 1q:)4 ..

oy S GG Matthew D. Smith, Jr.
. American Vice Consul

Mdavit m}?%‘é’&%cuwon authorized to administer oaths.




PERSO NAL QU T«‘ST I0 N'NA IRE
Please read thlﬂ quest icnnaire carefully and then print, type or write

your an swers le gibly to bhe I’ollovmg quest lons,

8. state your full name. AQZQMQ G,éaeéc.

b, Male? ‘/ Female‘? m Malden Name?

¢, Birth place?
de.
 Where? _

Have you ever visitéd Japan? % When?

Did you attend school in Japan? % When?

How long‘? &44 What Schools?

Period of att_endgnce: L LoUE —— (42T

- PRELIMINARY QUEST IONS

Where did you live-before~evacuat lon? _

What, was your occupation before evacuation? ?444 Zﬁé alt?

Who, if anyone, was wholly 6r"vpért ially dependent upon yow fo/i/support
//

.~.at the time you were evacuated‘? ‘% ,gsaé—r jd/ﬂ

Where did -your father “and mothef reslde at the time of evacuabion? Qi

Lt Dresaccd ot Hs Titia

2

Wéro they aliens? ; ;

i

s What, were thelr ages at the time of evacuation?

_Were. your parents bdth evacuated also? ___ Was either of them in ill
heéalthwhile in a WRA Center? Was either of them hospitalized

while in a WRA Center? . If so, when and in what Center?

Were you or any other membets of your family in ill health while in a

WRA Center? % If g0, state who was, and, if hospltallzed, state :

when, for, what perlod of tlme, and in what Center?

sy aX P lan, 2 | * Ww&?‘ézﬂw'z
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Is your spouse (y&fe or hugband) a U. S, citizen, a renunciant or an
alien? MW }w//a,&uv " MWM

What are the names, blrthdatas ang, blrthplaces of your children?

rTEwY: Vi

Yy were evacuated with Wlfe, husband,

Qests0, (24l
. .¢hildren, father, mother, brothers, sisters, father=- 1n-law, md%her ine

-State what memberé of ‘your fémily (spouse, moﬁher, father, brothers,
sisters, children, father-in-law or mother=-in=-law) were in Japan during

the war?

Who of them, if any, were U: S. citizons? W e

Did any of them serve in the Japanese armed forces?

State what members, if any, of your spouse's family (your father=-in-law,
mother-in-law, sisters-in-law, brothers=in-law, or gtop-children) were in
Japan during the war and whether thr§ are U, S. citizens or -Japanese

aliens? LUl —

@

Did you Sfoer any property losses by reason of your evacuation?
you file a claim to recover losses you suffered by réason of your
‘eVacuation? 421:2‘ For what amount dild you file yolr claim? S T, 5 21

Hmount dld you receive in settlement of your clalms? Did your

. parents suffer any property losses by reason of evacuat ion? If so,

for what amount did they file claims? What amount did they

receive in settlement. of their claims?

State whether your husband, father or any other member. of your family was

interned as an alien enemy after the outbreak of war in an Allen Enemy

Internment Camp, for removal to Japan, and, if so, iIn what camp?

0 N YA
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When and where were you reunited with such member of your family?

Did you apply for "short term", "seasonal work", "indefinite leave",

"student's leave" or "relocation" while you were in a WRA Center?

When did you make that application?

In what camp were you at that time?

Were you denied leave?

What reasons were given to you for denying your applicat ion?

Did you go out for seasonal work or on.any leave clearanc%?zgégggﬂmgg and

where did you go and for what period of time?

What type of work did you do?

Did yoﬁ exper lence any disoriminatign or persecution while on leave?

If so, state the experience.

ey g

To what Center did you return?
State the names of any members of your famlly or any of your friends who

~went out on leave or relocation and ‘exper ienced discriminat ion or perse-

<

What happened to them?

When did the occurences teke place? Yoer

Where did they happen?

From whom or what sources did you hear or learn those things?




<

4 ¥

&

Did you know or learn of any other persons on leave having been subjected :

to discriminat ion or persecution? What were their names?

if

What happened to them?

When and where did the occurrences take place?

Re: APPLICATIONS FOR REPATRIATION

.To what Assembly Center were you evacuated? _

il Zpa-k, regr
To what WRA Center were you next transferred? MW

In what Block did you live there? m

Did you make that application before or after you answered the Army

Quest lonnaire in February or March, 1943? A%)Z:;__\
When did you make that application? @Wz@‘e

Did you personally make that application? %If not, who dia?

Did any of the following persons also make applicat ions for repatriation
to Japan? Your husband? Wife? father? mother?

brothers}%_ gisters? father-In-law? 2¢¢ mother- in-law?@é

brothers-in=law? ____ sisters-in-law? When and in what Center were
they at the time they did this? %a(a/jol. ot 1.4 T St iz,
Did they then fear that the government intended to deport all aliens to
Japan? _ég'; that it intended to deport all Kibel to Japan?%; that
it intended to deport all Nisei to Japan? @

Did you make more than one application for repatriation to Japan, and, if

8o, when and where did you do so? m@%_m%ge




o

What members of your family pressured you into?applying for repatriation

to Japan? 2N —

&

What did tyey say to you to get you Lo apply for repatriation?

Did enyoné ‘élse, not a member of your: fgmily, pressure you into applying
for repatriation to Japan?<%25g5-~ Name the persons who did and state

whether they were Issel, Kibel, or Niseil, and blocks where they lived.

‘B ¢ 7W4MW

2%

?ﬁ%@ihs wero
3 :

What did those persons tell you to get you to apply for repatriation?

w

believe would happen to you if you'aid not make an appli-

catlon for repatriation to Japan? WMW&”&—
lprentens M,WMWW wea
Were you fearful that if you did not apply for repatriation you would be
separated from your husband? : wife%?égz,children?ééigfnmther?
father? 'brothers@ég&;asisters? _____ or other persons?

Were those persons in the same Center with you at the time you applied for
repatriation? If any of them were not, state who was not and where

they were at the time,

Did you believe that if you didn't apply for repatriastion to Japan that
sooner or later you would be forced to relocate in the U. §.2? $4dn an
area hostile to Japanese? %; that you might be drafted into the armed
forces? ; that you would be separated from alien members of your

family you believed would be deported to Japan?Z4)

Did you make application for repatriation because you believed the Governw-
ment had no use for you and intended to deport you to Japan because you
were Kibei?ééggj of that it intended to deport you to Japan because your
parents were there? _——7 or bocause your parents were aliens here and .
that 1t intended to deport them on an exchange ship to Japan simply becahéé

they'ﬁefé‘aliens2f—'”’?’énd that they wanted you to be with them and not




be separated from them? — .

Re: QUESTIONS 27 AID 28
In what WRA Center were you‘at the time you answered the Army Quostion-
naire COntainihg Questions Nos, 27 and 28% ;7;g£252;;

In what Block were you living in that Center at that time? i s

#

Was the Questlonnaire you answered the Army Quest ionnaire or the WRA

AppliCation for Leave Clearance, if you remember? ZMZ 6&4%

Did you give a negative answer go Quest ion. No, 27? s to Question No,

28%? ____. Did you refuse to answer Question No, 27?T%Zg‘; Quest ion No.
28?%' W b

Dig any:members of your famlly pressure you or threaten you into giving a
"No" answer to Questions Nos. 27 and 28 or into refusing to answer’ those

questionS}<zggguZﬂhg_were the family members who d4id this?

What did they say to you to get you to énsﬁer "No" to those questions or

to refuse to answer those questions? -

Did you give a "No" answer to those questions or refuse to answer them

bacause your father? _ mother? ____ brothers? gisters? or

other family members? _ were in Japan at the time and you feared they

might get in trouble with the Japanese government if you were silling to
serve in the U. S. Armxzjgggz.or were willing to swear alleglance %to the
U. 5.7 ___ Did you give "No" answers to those questions or refuse to
answer them becauéélyour father? ___ mother? __ ___ brothers? slsters?

or other family members? _____ were in the U. 8. but you believed they
were to be deported to Japan and that they would get in trouble with the
Japanese Government when they arrived there if you had answered "Yes" to
those questlons? ____ . Did you give a "No" answer, to those questions
because you believed that eventually you would be deported to Japan and
you feared that iIf you gave a "Yes" answer to those questions you would
get in ﬁfouble with the Japanese Government when you arrived in Japan?
e b B

8l. Did any other persons pressure or threaten you into giving "No" answers
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to those questions or into refusing to enswer those questions? + What
are the names of those persons and state whether they were Issei, Kibei,

or Nigseli and the Blocks in which they lived and the organization, if any,

What did those persons say to you to get you to give "No" answers to

those questions or to refuse to answer those questions? @mw

Geycavccin
M/(uwd elecealed Gav shaild fovee Gt Lo
What ngﬂﬁhappm to M@%" No" answers to
those questions or you didn't refuse to answer them? LMMMW

What did you fear wou ld happen to other members of your family if you

didn't give "No" answers to those questions or you did not refuse to

answer them’?MW/aﬂ M@M Q;WWA—C7
rah St haceiiin. Pl oo Ll ot guecfontile f g0
% refm thode~duest 1ons because you already had applied

for repatriation to Japan and you understood that if you already had

applied for repatriation you did not have to answer those quest ionsm.
Did you give "No" answers to those questions or refugse to answer them
because you resented being evacuated, confied to a WRA Center and treated
like an alien?

Did you give "No" answers to those questions or refuse to answer them
because you already had applied for repatriation and believed that if you
gave "Yes" answers your application for repatristion would be cancelled
and you might be drafted into the armed forces? ____; or be forcibly re-
located in the U, S. while the war still was going on? Ll b e IR e
fear that If you were to be drafted you would be discriminated against‘
and be persecuted in the armed forceg? weens D1@ you fear that if you
were drafted? —— Or relocated? _____ you would be permanently separated
from members of your family who Wwere to be repatriated to Japsn® . -- 03

from what family members 4id you fear to be separated?

Did anyone else, not a member of your famlly, pressure or threaten you
into giving "No" answers to those questlons 7 Z¢ What were their names

and state whether they were Issel, Kibel or Nisel and the nameg of the
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organizations to which they belonged?

L

Dia you fear that 1f you gave "Ye's"  answers to those questions that you
would have tLe ‘si\:‘ay in camp and be" ‘separated from your parents or other
family members who Wer's to be ‘deported to Japan becauue they werse allens
or hacause they had asked to be sent to Japan and you did not want to be
separated from the%, From what parent or family members did you fear

geparat ion?

Did you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to those questions you eventu-
_ally would have to relocate in this country during the war and would be

«-An. danger from hostile Caucasians‘? Gl b

Did you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to those questions that it
would mean you might be drafted into military gervice where you would be
discriminated against or be persecuted by felloWw soldiers or that you
might be used as cannon fodder just because you had Japanese ancestry%
Who told you that this might happen to you‘? M

Did you fear that 1f you gave "Yes" answers to ‘those questions that you

might be attacked and harmed by groups of “Isséf, Kibei or Nisel in camp?

-#_grl\lame the group and its leaders or members from Wwhom you feared this

i t
P

MMMW/’WWM

Did you give 4 No" answers to those questions as'a protest against the mis-

treatment o:f‘ evacuat lon and confinement to a camp‘? #4_{;

Were you, or any member of your family, or any friend or anyone else ate
tacked by members of the pressure groups in that Center for showing loyal~-
ty to the LB e or oppos:Lt lon to the pressure ‘groups? =%or for
giviné "Yes" answers to Questions Nos. 27 and 28?@ Ifso, state the

)ay

names of the persons who were attacked, MW

Wh'en were they attacked? By whom were they attacked?
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Did you then believe that if you gave a "No" snswer to those questions
that you’onldebemallowedﬁoo stay In the Center for the duration of the
war and in this waymyou,end‘yoor famiiy'would be free from danger of per=
secut lon by Caucasians? ‘ .Who told you this? Sl ny /4Za4ﬂzug=:
=gz‘;n4424£AQ/4ga9 7/ Auy;ﬁigy ¢aucou%/%Ebaﬂéé¢44H£u421/§n4u157

Did you give "No" answers i Quest 1on Nos. 27 and 28 or refuse to answer

those questions because you had been 1nformed by the WRA or understood
that because you already had applied for'repatriation to Japan that you
did not have to answer those question?21gg¢£.;Who_told you this? '

Did you ever give a "Yes" answer to Question No, 279/4219 to Question
No. 28"4@ Did you change, Jour answer to Questlon No, 27 or 28 to "No"" '
at any time? T~ Did you change your answer to Questions Noa. 27 and 28"’
to "No ‘or-refuse to give "Yes answers to those questions by July 51 Lt
1943 because you knew that "No" enswers or a refusal to answer those

questions would mean that. you would be sent to Tule Lake or be segregated“*
there with alien members of youy family from whom you did not want to be

separated" @,&L//‘W Il 50 #r Oﬁw

When and where did you first register for the draft? ézaéké;uu¢é£¢4z‘
R LT
@ulo/ Bl y5do- | ,

What classification dld you flrst reoeive? ;?7¢' Dia you ever rew=
2

celve a 4=C (allen enemy) olaasification? . When did you receive that

4wC classificationV

In wnatwdenter~Were you when you received 1t?

Did you reoeive“that 4-C olaSSLfication before you answered the Army
Questlonnaire in February or March of 1945 while you were in a WRA Center

”or aid you receive 1 afterward?'

: While you were in any WRA Center did you sign a petition addressed to the
Attorney Goneral, the Pree%dent, the Army, the WRA or other governmental
‘agency or agent stating in substanoeftneﬁ 1f you were freed and returned
to your home you would fight for fthe U, 8, and give your life if neces-

=55 il

aary for this oountry Aﬁa&é’ In what Center were you at the time?

r‘,_~

Did you’ sign -such a petltion before you answered the Army Questionnaire

‘_:ln February or’ Margch, 1945 or. afterward9 : Did you sign such a

£t 55 P B
s e s

1y
Sty
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petition before you made a request for repatriation to Japan or afterward?

When were YOUT parents first placed on the free list‘or notified

- that they could be relocated?

Were any other members of your family placed on the WRA free list for re-
location purposes and, if so, who were they and when were they placed on

the free list?

T «
Would you have been willing to swear unqualified allegiance to the U. 8.

whille you were in a WRA Center if the Government had allowed you to re=-
turn to your home as a free citizen? Would you have been willing to
return to your home alone?féégx without the citizen members of your
family likewise being freed from detention?égﬁgg; without the alien
members of your family also being freed?'¥4g52 Would you have been will;
ing only if the Government would assure you that you would be relocated
safe from harm from Caucasians2 ; that the citizen members of your
famlly would be relocated safe from harm? 4%@@5 and that the alien members
of your family willing to return to their homes during the war if the
Government would allow fhem?lsgzg7Were they willing to be relocated else=
where in the U, S.?CQZQQZ-

Did you keep in touch with your Local Draft Board while you were in a WRA
Canter?égégg. Did you report'to your Draft Board after you were.released

from camp? « To what Draft Board?

When? After your release from camp dld you volunteer

for service in our armed forces?. .Dld you ever served armed

forces? . lUhen ' s into what bra nch?

= e

;5 what period of time did you serve? H

where did you serve ?_ : .. 3 what was your social

number? . Have you receilved an Honorable discharge

from such service? , ; what is the date of that Discharge?

Re: MEMBERSHIP IN ORGANIZAT IONS
50, (a) Did you ever sign a petition for resegregation (Saikakuri Seigan)

while in Tule Lake? /?Zv When? eciorm /4¢£/
7 46

(b) Were you at any time a member of (1) Sokoku Kenkyukai?

(2) Sokoku Kenkyo Seinen Dan?

e ST e T

(3) Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi Dan?
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: séééééb (4) Hokoku Seinen Dan? QZ;Z§£g. (5) Hokoku Joshi Selnen

Dan? ¥

When did you become a member?

How long were you a member? _

When did you stop being a member? __  ~2LeLILLL ¢

In what Block did you live at the t ime you became a mem er?

What was the ngme of your Block Manager?

With whom did you share living guarters at the Tule Lake Center?

What organizations were actlve 1n that Block? ,4Z?¢£a44294£;£,‘¢4~.45uﬁx-—

What was the full name of the grganization ypu Jjol d?

¢ A

il LA A
What were the names of the leaders of the organizatlons in

~_ Were your father? . ox; mother? ;; or brothers?<;zgg.or gisters?
or father=-in-law? or mother-in-law? __a member of any organizaw

t ion? Did they:bérsuade you to beCome a membgr?(/1L67What did thoy

say to you to persuade you to become a member?

What other members of your family wore members of the Hoshi Dan?

Joshi Dan? /&a% ;

Seinen Dan?

lihy did they become rienmber s ?

Tn what Blocks Were they living?

What are the -namés of ﬁhe persons other than’ members of your family who
persuaded or threstened yqﬁ‘ih o becomi
'bérsons were Isgsel, Kiboiéor Nisel and stlate the Blocks in which they

viveas __ Dudecds - Pusee-ALhi

What did they tell you to perguade you %o become a member? @LL Ll e

1d happen to you if you did not become a member ?
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What office, if any, did you hold in the organlzatlon?_

When did you become an officer? 4%"4;%1,1&9 A,EﬁgzéggyégﬂZi;;;gnz

From whom did you receive notice that you were an officer?

/4L1 7 2% qﬁ?ﬁcaka

What dééies dge you perform as an officer?

( | s o
As a member did you attend any mornlng callsthenlc exercises/kéﬂpproxi-

mately how often did you Join in the callsthenlcs9 Ea A

'Did.you attend any of the organlzat $anlas L attunaa® % Approxlmately how
many lectures -did you attend??égéi Wmat Was ‘the nature of those lectures?

Did yourpartiéipate in ady of their marchlng demonstrations?déésg If so,

how many? B 4%94;¢44"/}/

Did you attend any other meetings of the organization? , Where and how

often?

=3

Did you tell anyone you wanted to drop membershiiiégg‘QEWate the namss

of the persons you told you wanted to drop membership,

Sheiags

Did anibody‘Warn you that you could not withdraw'ffemjmemberShip?z42c49 .

Who gave you such, a warhin@? (State their names, blocks, where they lived

~__and whether Issel, Kibei or Nisei) .ag43oc44’;Q5124¢*4¢L¢%£a4/’i/ﬁﬂg, 43942

'trled to drop membership9

d your/membership or

What aid they tell you would happen if you droppe

if you know, was beaten for trying to do 1t?

Had you learned that anyone who tried to drop membership had been

threetened or had been beaten up for trying to drop memberghip? Who,

What group did you hear was responsible for beat ing persons who tried te

w1thdraw from membership9 ‘ ’z

ST TR ey~ ey -y edae
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" Were you in fear that you would be attacked and beaten up Dby imembors

you tfied to drop membershipgfégéz Whaﬁ.groups did you fear might do ..

Ehtge feece x%,!{ga doatr—— . .

=

 Were you told that if you tried to drop membergship the organization
would report this matter to the Japanese Government and that when you
were deported to Japan you would get in trouble with the Japanese Govern-

ment ? Who told you this? Al —t2

Did yol fear that 1if you dropped membership ydu would get in trouble with

the Japanese Government when you were deported to Japan? *égigz..

Were you told that if you tried to drop membership the organization lead=~
ers would report this matter to the Japanese Government and that your
alien parents would get in trouble with the Japanese Government when they
were sent to Japan for not being able to control your gctilonsg? o W0
told you this? (State the names, blocks where they lived and whether

Issel, Kibeil or Nisel)

Did you fear that 1f you dropped membership your parents who were to be

sent to Japan would get in trouble there? _ .

—

i

Did you have your hair cut short or shaved? When?

4

aia 147 . ; Did you wear any insignia of the organizat ion and,

if so, what iInsignia? _

If you or any member of your family was placed in the "Stockade" at Tule

Take Center state who was, for what period of time and for what reason

ter . —

What was the nature of your employment and where dld you work while you

were in Tule Lake? @MM -—'0%4 /W
What were your working hourszﬁtbténﬁégg—;ggrworking while you were a

member of any organilzation at Tule? In what block? A% ;Z What were

the names of some of your fellow workers?
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63, Were you, or any member of youﬂ'family, or any friend attacked by any

members of any of the pressure groups at Tule Lake? ____ Who was?

_W%M

- By whom?
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Ret REQUESTS FOR FORMS UPON WHICH
'TQ RENOUNCE C IT IZENSHIP

(a) In what Block did you live in the Tule Lake Center? ﬁé ;7

(b) When did you ‘send a letter to the Attorney General or thq Justice

= o T
Where dlid yop get e forms?

In what Center were you at tha
Number: _ 6 7.

(Note: On Dbcember 19, 1644, General Pratt removed the ban on the
return of Japanese to fhe West Cosst, On December 21, 1944, the
 Newell Star, thé Tule Lake Center newspaper, announced that all the
WRA camps would be closed in about oné year, DNotices of this also
‘may have been posted in the block manager's offices, the mess halls
and other places in camp.

Therefore, if you sent a letter to the Attorney General or the
Justice Department before December 21, 1944, agking for forms upon
which to renounce citizenship you probably were not then in fear of
the camp being closed and of being forced to relocate in a hostile
area without funds or g home to which you could go., If you sent such
a letter between December 21, 1944 and January 29, 1945, you probab=
1y were in fear of being relocated in such circumstances. On January
29; 1945, the WRA announced that Tule Lake would be kept open and
that there would not be any forced relocations, If you sent your
lett er after January 29, 1945, the Justice Department will be inclin-
ed to believe you were not then in actual fear of being forcibly re-
locgted in a hostile area without funds or a home to which you could
go unless you convince 1t that you did not belleve the January 29,
1945, announcement that the Tule Lake Center would be kept open and
that no one would be forced to relocate,)

Did yoﬁ send that letter to the Atbtorney General or to the Justice Depart-
ment before that December 21, 1944 announcement that all the WRA Centers
would be closed within a year? <Z22€. u)send it between December

/

21, 1944 and January 29, 19457 /

Did you send it after the amnouncemant of January £ 9, 1945, that the

‘fule Lake Center would be kept OpBRY iy

If you sent in your letter to the Justice Departmeﬁt after the WRA's an-
nouncement of January 29, 1945, that the Tule Lake Center would be kept
open and that there would not be any forcible relocat ions you probably
did not send that letter requesting forms upon which to renounce your
citizenship by reason of fear that thse Tule Lake Center would be closed
and that you anq:your family would: be forced to relocate and therefore,
you should-answer the following questions:

(a) From what source did you learn about that announcement of January 29,
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1945: 1In the Newell Star? ____ 3 from a notice on a bulletin board? _

from the Block Manager? ;__';‘fromzwhat'dthef'persons?

e e ey

(b) Did you believe the announcement? « If not, state why you did

o

not believe the announcement,

(c) Did anyone tell you that you could not trust that announcement?

If so, state who told you not to rely on that announcement and what they

sald to you to make you disbelieve it.

If the announcement of December 21, 1944 that all Centers would be closg=
o6 wlthin a year and the announcement of January 29 1945, uhat Tule Lake
Centenr would be kept open and there Would not ba any forcible relocat ions
did not have anything to do W¢th your declslon to renounce your citizen-
ship did you send the letter to the Justlce Department asking for forms
upon which to renounce citizenéhip becaUSe of any of the following fears,
Mf”i,naméiy: (a) fear of separat ion from allen members of your family, such
"fgé'fétnef?zdgmm-mothcr? Selda fathor-ln—law9‘m%=m mother in=-law? ____ step
-fathbf?'ga;; StQP‘mOthGT?,uaaz ot} her aliens .';;;; who youubelievad were
;to;bé depof%ed to‘Jébgn?»aang (b) fear of beingvséparatéd from citizen
_ :;ﬁinembéré;ofiyOUr famil&,’suoh asg your wifé? husband? oo ok lidnen®
,.;ZQQQL who you belleved would have to rolocate in.the UL S.%@?g;; or who
you belﬂeved would be deportad to Japan?4gzgzﬁ (c) fear of being deported
yoursell because you had given negat ive answers Lo Questions Nos., &7 or
28 and were considered a disloyal persog?éiggég (d) fear of treat or harm
to ﬂOU-ES@l% or your wife? @4 or husband? ___ 0¥ c;hildren%a
or mother? ____ or father? ___ or other members? .___  of.your family from
. gangs- in the Center? 3.(9) fear of mistreatment or physical harm from
the Government or its agentg
Did_the announcement of December 2l, 1944, that all the WRA Centers would
be cloged within a year cause you to send that letter to the Justice De=
partment? ___ Did you read that announcement in the Newell Star? ___ _;

from a . bullet in board? 5 or learn about it from the Block Manager?

3 or from other persons and, If so, name the persons:




&4 i s

Did'you send the letter to the Justice Department asking for forms upon
which to renounce your Cltlzenship bGCdUSG you feared that December 21,
1944, announcement meant that you gnd txe citizen members of your family
'%”would be forcibly relocated without money, a home or job In an area where
people were hOStllG LO JaPanese Whlle the war still was going on unless
you renounced your c:.tJ.zJensh.’Lp‘Pmm== Were you afraid of being relocated
because you had heard that jobs were scarce? g Uk emplyers did not
wish to hire Japanese and that you mléht not get work to support yourself
and your family? ~_ : that the publlc was hostile to Japanese and you
Teared mob violence?;anna. If you had been for01bly relocated what mem=

bers of your family woulg you then have had to support ?

Had you heard of any relOCated persons belnb discriminated against?
" refused work? ~‘; belng lnsulted9 H belng attacked? ; being

_shot at9 .3 being persecuted? : whose homes had been burned?

WA and where had these 1n0ldents taken place?

i What were the names of the persons who had been mistreated and state what

it was ‘that happened to them.

. g T

Did you send that letter because you believed that if you sent for the
forms’ and renounced your cltlzenshlp that you would be interned by the
Juetlce Department and could stay in camp unt il the war ended and then be
safely relOCated when publlc hostlllty to Japanese dled down?.==a=-. Who
told you that this could be done? '

..D1d .any members of your family fear or tell you that you would be forclbly

relocated and run the risk of danger from hostile Caucasians unless you

sent that letter and rénounced your clblzenship and, if so, what members

of your family tolgd’ you th139

;(a) State what members of your family were in fear of what might happen to

you or to them if you did not gend such a letter and, 1f so, state of

what or of whom they were in fear7
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(b) In what Blocks were eavh of your family members living at that time?

47 Vi nE o :

Did you feap,pham iﬂ_ya6:did1not=sénd'theletter and request forms upon
which to renounce yourhcitizenShip‘that'you‘Would be separated from gli=

en members of your famil@?ﬁk#dquagg, ifASO, from what allen members? L

. your family? /ku%‘

or from citizen nembers?(§a¢;a and if so, from what citizen members of

i Y
Name the members of your family Who‘ﬁ?}f/}EH/fhat you would be separated

from your famlly if you did not send for the forms and renounce your

citizenship? AN —

& e

Name other persons, not membérs of your family, who told you that you
would be separated from your family if you dld not send for the forms and

renounce your citizenship:.and state whether they were Issei, Kibel or

===

Nisel and the Blocks where they lived, mig;agéQQZZZZf;EiaLalef /B

Aot - :

What members of your family (wife, husband, children, father, mother,
brother, sisters, father=inelaw, mother=in=law) were in the Tule Lake

Center at the time you sent that letter to the Justice Depurtment9

%&g@w Au:d:,;

What members of your family pressured, threatened or persuaded you to

Bhna Ehat Latt ant R A

( .

What did they fear or sa y to you to got you to send that letter?

Dld your husband? wife? father? _ mother? brothers? .
‘ s sisters?® in-laws? ____ force you to ggg&/g/zg;ter requesting

_ forms on which to renounce your citizZiiEip/éErthat you wouldn't be

separated from them by being foreced to Telocate while they remained in

camp or finally were deported to Japan? - If such person or persons were
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clbizens of the USE. bt ate wh uhoﬂ theyvalready had sent for forms upon

Al : L
‘ walcu to ronounce ko im Clul7OﬂnA“DQ ¥

o

J’Wﬁat old such person or persons say to you to force you to rénounce your

citizenship? .

[ e e e — e T e S

“Did you seno that la+ter‘%eouesting forms upon which o renounce citizen-

could be exchangoed Qr,fomovod to Japan znd th you ult imately would have
to be relocated in this country snd thus be/separated from them unless
vou applisd for renunciation? ___ Nameg/the persons who told you this
might happen if you didn'*t renounce yo ” cit izenship and state whether
they were Isseil, Kibel or Nisel and ¥he Blocks where they lived

&
il

— e e e o e e e - = e e =

4
That allen menbelrs of-your fami}y already had asked for repatriation %o

Japen at the time you sent thaé/letter?
N
i

o s T TR e s o S o S s s e sl e T

/
/

Were the allen members o@/&our family on the WRA free list and eligible

/
to relocate at the time’you sent your letter to the Justice Department
asking for forms upgy/which $0 renounce your citizenship?

o

i ey

Did you fear thg# if you didn't send for the forms and didn't renounce
your ¢ Ttlzensgib that you, neVuTthelGSS, would be deported to Japan along

with the gijén wemberﬁ of . your famlTy because you had asked for repatria=

ang tbat _you would get in trouble with the Japanese govern=-

wheélyou amwlvpd there? ;”;;; hame the persons who told you this and

"%GTHGM.TQG] were Isseli, KJbeJ, mlsel, the Blocks where they lived

and he organizations of which they Were members ,

s o

80. Dld you decide to apply for forms upon Wthh to renounce your citizenship
because you.believel your life was being fritﬁergd”away uselessly in camp?
=1;&§gg‘that you feared &hat you»mivht»be'c6nfihed to camp until the war
ended9gf?$; wh*ch rlbht take many years9§§Zg7or‘that if the Waf did not
. come to an end you voqu bo kept In camp fore%er“ﬁ?&g; or that when and
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if the war ended tha-GOVGrnment might deport you to Japan2 , and that
you want ed, to_get?aﬁay_from camp life?4;52%7and feared that you had to go
or be ssnt somewhere or anywhere, even to Japan, just so long as you were
made a free man?gg,
Did you send a letter tb the Justice Department asking for the forms
upon which to renounce because you were afrald that the Government had
“ho use for you and didn't care what happened to you and that you were
afrald thils was true because it had deprived you of citizenship rights
by‘GVaCUating you and putting you into a WRA Center behind'barbed wires
‘ahd then had armed troops guard you‘?/ég;.; end then didn't give you any p
protection in the Tule Lake Center from the threats and vlolence of gangs?
,4gggzg and because the police didn't give any protection to the residents?
(,%gigga and you were scared by the soldiers moving In and driving the re=-
sldents around and searching their QUarteTSQG;Zggg and no protection was
glven against such things as the murder of Mr, Hitomi, the knifing of Mr.
Terasawa and others, and the clubbing and beéﬁings of many persons; and
that thé Government didn't punish the soldier who shot Mr, Okamoto?zgzgy_
and that you thought these things clearly meant the Government had no use
for you and didn't want to give you any protection and that, to avoid all
this violence and trouble, you had to reﬁounce citizenship to Insure your
own safetyg?gggz and the gsafety of your'wife?<§&ﬁg,-husband?|mz==, father?
s mother? _, children? %‘, brothers%,‘ sisters? ____, other
'members'of jqurlfamily? it g
Did you decide to send the letter asking for forms upon which to renounce
your citiZenship because you feared that you were going to be deported to
Japan.because—you.had given "No" answers to Questions Nos, 27 and 28 or
had refused to answer those questlons and were éonsidered disloyal to the
U. S, and that It was necessary for you to send that letter to the Justice
Department and renounco your citizenship otherwise you would get in
trouble when you arrived in Japan? + VWhat trouble did you think you

would get.into iIn Japan if you didn'tﬁrenounce U. S. cltizenship?

7

Name the Issei, Kibel and Nisei who told you this and state in what Blocks
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':they 1ived at Tuls Tele sha the neme of any organizations to which they

: belonged

Did you fear that if you didh't send for the forms and renounce your
cltlzenship that you eventually might be drafted’into'Ouf armed forces
while YOuwwere7in-the Center and thus be separated from your citizen wife?
*“.235&13 cit izen children?‘égZ%j,or other citizen members of your family?
e, Who were in the Center?. Did you fear that If you didn't send
for the forms and renounce citizenship that you eventually would be re=-
“iOCéted and then might be drafted Into our armed forces and then be sepae
:rated from your wife?lééaﬁ, childrenjagggg; other family members? __

who would have relocated with you? Who told you these things might happen

1f you didn't renounce your citizenship? ﬂcg“‘gé 2

' Dig you fear that 1f you dldn't send for the forms and renounce your ¢itis

zenship that you eventdally might be drafted into the army whille”you were
in the Center or after you were forcibly relocated which would result in

i to be sent to
Japan bocause they had acsked for repatriation to J

. OF becalse they believed they would be deported to Japan after

the war ended because they. feared the Govermfent intended to deport all

allien Japanese to Japan? i S ti£9/§5u this would happen%

//

==

Did your allen parents fear that” if you didn't send for the forms and
A

renounce your citizenship @hé% you eventually might be drafted into the

"<
army and be separated firtm them when they were sent to Japan? oooBid

_ ] : _ e
they tell you this@// Neme “other persong who told you this,
//
pd

g x < = —_ X = = =4 - = e S e

Did your p%;eﬁ%s fear that i1f you served in the armed forces that they

would get in trouble with the Japansse Government when they arrived in
Japan?’ » Did they tell you thils? ___, Name other persons who told
“you this.

Did any person or persong or group of persons tsll you or spread the

rumor that If you didn't send ‘for the form andgd renounce your citizenghip

you would get into trouble with %he Japanese government when you were




deported to JapaﬂZgé%éz. Name the persons who told you these things, the

 Blocks where they lived and the organizations to which they belonged, and

whether they were Issei, Kilbel or Nisei.==4%k%¢;éggiégéggggsiv e

Name the other members of your family whom you believed would get in

trouble there if you didn't renounce your cibtizenship and state whether

they were in the Cent er with you. # W—&&JJA— /rm

If any members of your family were in Japan at the time, did you fear
that they might be punished by the Japanese government 1f 1t learned that

you did not renounce your U, S, cit lzenship? . What members of your

family there did you fear might get in such troubla%

= T s =g

With what agents of Japan did you think you or your family members would

got in trouble if you did not renounce your citizenship?

(The Japanese police? __ p~5 Kempeitai? v 3 Army?‘éggg} Ngighborhood

Associations?g:///;,other agencies?

What did you fear wculd happen to you or to them? __

Did you belleve that you or they would be put in prison? 3 Internment

camp? u///%e forced to work as slave laborers? __ s or what else did

you Fear would happen to you or to them?

e g

If anyone else told you to send that letter, name the persons who did and
stabte whether they were Issel, K;bei or Nisei and the Blocks in which
they lived or where they worked at Tule Lake Center, and state the names
of the organizations of which they were members,

What did they tell you would happen to you if you didn't send that letter?

or members of any of the organizations in Tule

Lake, and, 1f so, state/the names of the organizations,ﬂggz;ggégggganzgnz
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Who were the Issei leaders of those organizations and in what Blocks dig
they llVQWWA Ll B M Cba UL LLAAA

The Kibei leaders and Blocks where they lived? _

The Nisei leaders and Blocks where they lived? 2/ 4
Were any groups of leaders or members of the Seinen Dan or Hoshi Dan mov=
od away to Santa Fe before you sent in that letter?¢Z¢e) If so, what

groups ?

Were any groups of leaders or members of the Seinen Dan or Hoshl Dan re-
moved to Santa Fe before you sent in that letter;42£§) If so, what

groups?

(Notes The first group of 70 Issei and citizens belonging to the Hokoku
Seinen Dan were taken away to Santa Fe on December 27, 1944, Renunciét-
fon hearings started on January 1ll, 1945, The next group of 144 citlzens
and 27 alliens, including 50 officers of the Hokoku Selnen Dan, was taken
ta Sanfa Fe on January 26, 1946, The next group of gbout 650 members éf
the Hokoku Seinen Dan was removed to Blsmarck on Februapry ll, l945. The
next group of 125 persons was taken to Santa Fe on March 12, i945 Abbut
June, 1945, some 400 more were removed to Senta Fe and in July,. l94o,.a
few more were taken to Bismarck._ Therefoye, If you had your hearing after
these‘ETOUps had been removed you were net In fear of them atb that time.)
Were you lIn feay that 1f you didn't dend fer the forms and renounce youﬁ
cit lzenship thet your name would be put on the organization's blackelist
and would be reported to the Japanese government and you would get In

trouble with the Japanese governmgnt when you arrived in Japan?€§§ggr Who

- told you this would happen? “ﬁw@mm!éabc4o%4¢/cz

State whether they were Issel, Klbel or Nsel, the Blocks where they then

were living and the organilzation to which belenged,
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Were you in fear of the leaders of any of the organizationg at Tule?<Z o,

Were you in fear of the members of ~ny of the organization%;4gggp, oF

=y

Wh‘at Or gan iZ at ions were yo“l jn fear ? — e = Sl TS L o = Mﬂrﬂﬂa ==
s =; e S R e mm.@%% e S ;

of what leaders were you in fear? (State the blocks where they lived)

= S

of what members wers you in fesr? (State the Blocks where they lived)

[

Why were you in fear?

Were any other members of your family in fear of them or their organizat e

lons and, if so, state the names of your family members who werse in fear

~
of them? ?ﬂég4A§§£¥g x
R £ S Ty e B e e o e B S e

e e e Sarter S S S SR = > S == - Py

If you or any member of your family or any friends were abtacked by any
of the leaders or members of any of the pressure groups for not doing
what the pregsure group leaders wanted state the names of the persons who

were attacked, the t ime and place where attacked and by whom.

= = LY gy e

Were you in fear of being attacked and beaten up by them or their organ?*o-
at ions if you did not send for the forms and renounce your citlzenshiy -
7 Bad any of t hem threatened you96g§gg If so, what were their names

and state what they said to you. __

Were you In fear that members of your family might be attacked and phys ie

cally harmed if you did not send that letter, and, if so, state what

members of your family you feared might be harmed by themogfkfézg;!*~\

i o T = AT e

Were you in fear that if you did not send that lettor that you might be

harmed by the leaders or members of any of the following organizat ionsg,

namely: Hoshi Dan? u/?//gginen Dan? ==;;§//3;;hi Dan? 5 Manzanar

gang? ,//f?/ the Poston gang?—/’/:; Jerome gang? ”—"’San Pedroc gang?
—3 the Tiger gaﬁé?l 5 The Black Dragon Society gang? or other

m,
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gangs? st lorgtrong aonm groups?' .+ Name the leaders, members,

groups or gangs of which you werse in fear.

While you were in Tule were you ever called an Inu? ~Zegie & spy? 4

a stooge? soran inf ermer.? s a White Jap? 3 a traitor?
kokuzoku? ; or other names? , for not doing what the organiza=

t ions want ed you to do? ____ . What names were you called?

Were you in fear of being called such.nameszdgégbn. What were the names

of the persons who called you such names?

How many persons called on you or spoke to you and asked you izagiﬁ’géd
sent for the forms upon which to renounce your citizenshig}igggp&:What

were their names? __<€2us AtHLd ML 2, . , /_Z_ggw

Did anyone check up on your mail in the block fianager's office to see
whether or not you had sent such a letter or had rsceived an answering

letter from the Justice Departmenp€<7Z49.~ State t he names of the persons

who checked up on you in this manner,

Did anyone take down your name as being a person who 4id not send such a

form or was late in sending for such a forg}ﬁgzgfz .State the names of

the persons who did this and whether they were Issei, Kibel or Niseil:

Were sny members of your family or friends attacked, beaten or thréatened

for not sending for the'form§2/17642 Name the persons who were attacked

or beaten,

Wére you ostracized for not sending.in such a letter promptly%<2ﬁ;§2 Did
friends shun or avoid you or refuge to talk to you'because you had not
sent for the forms?72€</, Was your spouse? 2€e); your childrexfAte;
or other members of: your famlly? __ mistreated for.yeur delay in sending

such a letter? . What mistreatment 4id they suffer and from whom?
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100, While you were In g WRA Center dld the U S Immigration Service commence
any deportat ion proceedlng agalnst your husband ? ol iwlled e
father? ___ ; mother? ___ ', for violation of any immigration law? Did
you feaf' that the member of your family _aigainst whom deportat lon proceed=-
ings had been stérfed WOUid be deported from the U, 8. to Japan because
guch person was ‘ill'e;é;ally in the U, $.? . Did you fear separation
from such person and did the fear that such person would be deported
cause you to apply for the forms upon which to renounce citizenship so
that you would not be separated from such person? e

Re: RENUNC IATION HEARING
Name ‘the mebers of your famlly besides you who had a hearing on an appli-

cation_'for renunc iat ion of 01t1zensh1p. Hus band ? ,=5 wife? l/,

brothers? L~ ;5 slsters® 5 other family members?

Dig you have your hearing before the renunciation of your wife%gg
husband ? 5 brothers? 2 or sisters? . « Did you have it on the
same day as your wife? so. Busbend? - o, - 0n what date did you have

your renunclilation hearing? WM Was your hearing officer a

man?xfggg a woman? . Did you have an interproter at your hearingg

é . Did you need one%.

At your renunciation hearing did you tell the hearing officer that you

wanted to renounce because you were loyal to Japan, or that you wanted
Japan to win the war, or that you were against the U. S. or make other
statements indicating loyalty.to Japan or disloyalty to the U. 8.2 Qg—_gg

- What , In substance, did you tell the hearing officer as reasons why you

wanted to renounce your Cltlzenshlp‘P%d ,
‘ (7 e
= £

Neme the persons who coached you and %told you what you were to say at
your hearing to make certaln your renunciation would be approved and state
whether they were Issel, Kibel or Nisel and the blocks where they lived.

Sflester o
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103, Did the Hearing officer tell you that you did not have to renounce your

.. citizenship in order:to go o JapsrT#CC© ., Did you -believe this?' ___ .

Were you in fear of the hearing officer;@,. Why?
Did yoquegr‘to tell the hearing officer the real reasons why you were
renouncing your ¢ it izenship? . What A4id you think would happen 1f
you hed told him the real reasons? __

104, Did you fear that if you did and your renunciat ion was not accepted that

you would get in trouble with your parents? ; obther family members ?
/#% who were in Tule Laks?w; or in some other internment camp?

.Were you then in fear of being forc ibly relocated in

a dangerous area?/‘ggé (If your hearing took place after the January 29,
1945, announcement were you still in fear of eventual relocation in a

‘hostile area? ) Were you then in fear of being draftem. Were

you in fear of sepsration from members of your famlly‘?(%g:. From what

member s ?. 2 é%g! M

B i

Were they in Tule Lake? or in what other Center?

Were they on the WRA "free list" and eligible for relocation at the time?
/élﬁg) Had: they applied for relocation before the dey you had your re=" :
nunc iat ion hearing? @4) Were they still expecting to be sent to Japan?
. er DI oy still wenb to go to Japan? (e Had ‘b Ganca e | e
... 'thelr applications to go to Japan? m@ﬁt&) :
Were you in fear that if your renunclation was not accepted you would be
in danger of harm from any of the leaders or members of a ny of t he pre-
gsure groups at the time you kad your renunciation hearing‘?'%q Had
tho leaders or members been removed to. other cemps at the % ime you had

your hearing? % Wer o sonme lcxderﬁ \5\nd mombsrs ﬁ% in camp at_the

time you had your h;aaring?%. / e the }‘/amss of those ?ﬁo wore

st111 in camp? w@—é&g@ ' evesed)

{ 3
\ P,

Were you removed from Tule Lake .Center to Bismarc%‘; Santa Fe? 5

=====n=’
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When? ?Lfé;/é{( . with what groups: the lst, 2nd, 3rd or

4th groups? . ;;Egg?J What-members, of your family remained at

Tule Lake?

What other members of your family were femoved from Tule Lake Center to |

5

Blsmarck? et 4

to Santa Fe? "3—///<i— 2 When?

Were they removed from Tule Lake before you had your renunciation hear-

iﬁg? ___. or after you had your hearing at 'Tule Lake?
State when and where you were re-united with them.
Gu Legot — ;szﬁﬂéi A4a/’7‘%Eéz§;&4 e

Name the other members of your family who renounced cltizenship><

e M MW@WM

/
/

Did you give sudﬁxagswers because other members of §' r family had been
removed from Tule Lake and you thought that by so doing youfwould be re-
united with them? ____ . Did you fear that those family members would be
deported to Japan and that 1f you gave such answers you would be re-united
with them and be deported along with them?,gaﬂm.

()0r you app T ed if o vis To0 a Lot T B . 'S. affier your renunciation

'state when you did so. na?é;zgagﬁg4;;_———a .

(b) Did you write a letter to the Attorney General or Justice Department .

asking to cancel your renunciati%nfggggg&_ﬂhﬁn?-' - In what

Cent or were you living when you wrote that letter? __

Res MITIGATION HEARING

iy

Did you have a mitigation hearing" between December, 1945, and April,

194€?<22g242 In what Center did you have this hearing?

. Was your hearlng offilcer a men? ... .3 @& woman?

At this hearing did you tell the hearlng officer that you were loyal'ﬁo
Japan or disloyal to the U. S. or words to. such an- effect?_“ngn. If you
dld, state why you did this, S e esindrad 5 :
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What members of your family were with you in the same Center at the time
of this hearing? (spouse, father, mother, children, brothers, sisters,

fether in law, mother in law) _

(- e e — e £ SuUd A Sy

From what members of your family were you then separated? il

Where were those members of your family at the time of your mitigat ion

hearing?

g e G

Were they then on the WRA or Justice Department free list anad eligible
for relocation? ___ . Had they relocated? _ « If they had, state when.

e

Did &ou then fear that members of your family in other camps were to be
deported to Japan? ____ . Was it because of your fear that those members
were to be deported to Japan that you gave such answers to the mitigation
hearing officer so that you would be allowed to rejoin those members and
not be separated any longer from them? ___ . |

What members of your family, if any, were removed to other internment

camps after you had your renunciation hearing?

s = e -

When and where were you re-united with them?

When were you released from detention?

what camp were you when you were released from detention?

If any of your family members were sent to Japan, state when they sailed

for Japan. From what port

did they sail? « What other members of

your family went to Japan?

When were you placed on the "free 1ligt"?




- ~they served or are serving,

30

your parenfé, spouse or other family members were placed on the free llst,

state when they were pladéé on that list and the camp from which they

relocated. ... e D bl

State:the name of any person in your family who has served or 1s serving

In the Armed Forces »f the United States and the branch of gervice.

L~ S m——

State the relation ship of such person to you

State the Serial Number of such person

~Has such person received an Honorable Discharge?

'-eri_béﬁore evacuat ion, or while you were In an Assembly Center or War Re~
locat ion Center any person (Caucasian or other) threatened, warned or
advised you against returning to your home or against relocating, state

the names of such persons ‘and their addresses?

When were such threats, warnings or advice made, or glven to you?

Year ; MOnth“_ A .

Where were you at the & ime?

Were the threats, warnings or advice verbal.or in letters?

Were any members of your family threatened, warned or advised against

leaving camp, relocating to their homes?

Name the famlily members and specify their relat ionship to you,

esgyee S =t = T

 Have you ever servéd in the armed forces of the U, S.%

In what branch? . When? _ Period of service _ _

o Where dld you serve? ... Date you receiv~

tctge

Ferp St Ao i s

ed an Honorable Discharge?  ___L Serial No,
What other members of your family (father, children, brothers or sigters)

served In the armed forces of the U. 5.

= = - TEome—pmey: —peye

=t i = R 0 2

State their names, relationship andmbrgnch?of'fhé armed ;forces in which
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Since returning to Japan in 1946 have you-§otéd:in any election

Where? it - Years' you

voted? __ . VWnat _elections? :

Why did you wote in thosg electiong?

Allied military officers told you to vote?

were you told would happen to you if you didn't vote?

Japanese officlals told you to vote?

neighborhood association told you to vote?

State the names and addresses of the neighbors who told you to vote?

What were you told would happento you if you didn't vote?

What did you believe or fear would happen to you if you didn't vote? 5

Since returning to Japan in 1946 has your name been registered in any

family Kosekl? _-Zcepe 2 __ When (what year)

Where?

Did you personelly apply to be registered in a Koseki?

Where did you go to be registered? When?

Why did you go to be registered?

If someone other than you personally reglstered your name in a Koseki

state who it was who reglstered you.

What relation is that person to you?

Why were you registered in a Kosekl gsince returning to Japan in 1946%

What caused you to be registered in a Kosekl since 19469

Were you registered in a Kosekl since returning to Japan in 1946 because

if you were not registered you would not have been given a ration card?

or would not have been given an address to




receive mail? R | RRe s or would have been

punished, and, if.so, by whom? __ _ and why?

= e — ]

Were you registered because of fear that if you weren't you would suffer

In some form? : . SUCh as would not be issued a ration card?

S

or for what other reasons?

Have you, since returning to Japan in 1946 been naturalized as a Japanese

citizen? gAY & - If 50, what steps did you take to become natu-

-ralized as a Japanese citiéen?

DR

Have you, since returning to Japan been employed by the Japanese Governw

ment or any agency of the Japanese Government ? P L B o O NI A

TP S0, name the office by which you were employed and the dates of your

employment ?

Have you worked for the United Stabtes Government or Allied militafy auth=

orities while in Japen? L7y For what service?
In what capacity? %WA—' Where did you perform -your

Dates of your employment ?

it (456 — 2853 B/l 1903
What 1s your occupation now? _jfétml é£144444u Where?

What property do you own im Japan? ==u?é;zggggg§g2¥

Nature of property?

Est imated valuation of that property?

Name of your nearest relative in the U. S. and address,

W&& (225 W d Wn

To what address do you intend to rebturn %o in the U, 8.

WW

@ttach all the documenézvand letters you have relating to your renuncig=-

tion of U. 8. citizenship.)
Have you filed an application with a U. §. Consul .in J

Passport? - 4@ . Wher did you file it? :
(Attach a copy -of the affidavit you filed with the U. S. Consul which

explained’ why you wenounced 1. S. cltizenship,) .
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What ressons did the U. 8. Consul give you for refusing to lssue you a

.

passport ?

e 25 = = e s

(Attach the letter of refusal the U. S. Consul sent to you,)

Have you registered as on allens in Japan? _ 2¢gstrt __ —~ When? _

{

Where? .

Dete: %‘«L//?,‘ /91}7 i

Signature

/Y. 772753 Qaw-

lEppO Koy, pAis#iml

Add S e
/ WAKUU/-gi‘s/S 7 }//4/4,96‘0 eHr o)

Telephone NumbeXx




GEORE MASARY Dol - %M

The reason why I gave negative answers to questions 27 and 28
of the Army WRA Form is that when I was interned in the concentration
camp I thought that I would be sent back to Japan, and that if I did not
pledge loyalty to Japan I would be maltreated by the Japanese Military
Police. When I previously resided in Japan I had heard and knew of many
cases of people being ill-treated; people being sent to the coal mines
for the rest of their lives, people being shot to death, and many other
atrocities by the Japanese Military Police, I gave negative answers
thinking of my family's and my safety.

P

Q I The reason why I applied for repatriation to Japan on 19 July
1943 is that a Hokoku Youths! Organization was formed, This organization
\/ was very powerful and those who had not applied for repatriation were
considered to be unloyal and treated like animals to do with as they saw
fit, I firmly believe to this day that Mr, HITOMI was murdered by this
( organization.
i
C i The reason why I applied for repatriation again on 31 August 1945
' is as follows: I wanted to live in the United States and return to the
| place where I was living but there were stories about Japanese homes being
{ burnt and I was also informed by my brother in a letter that his automobile
. and furniture were burnt., I did not pay much attention to these stories
and if I were offered by release from internment at that time I would have
gladly taken it. To remain interned in the camp meant being under constant
supervision by the Youths' Organization and the lives of those who pledged
loyalty to the United States and who did not apply for repatriation to
Japan were in danger., Those who belonged in the bad group, such as Mr.
Akatsukasa, Mr. Itabashi and Mr. Saito were arrogant and oppressive and
other internees feared them. Under the conditions that existed at that
time it was either to choose death or apply for repatriation to Japan.

gt The reason why I stated my loyalty was with Japan and hope that she
| would win the war was that if I did not say favorable things about Japan I
would be mal-treated by the Japanese Military Police if I were to be sent

' | back to Japan. Mr, Saito informed me that the Youths'!' Organization would

| report those who said unfavorable things about Japan to the Japanese Military
| Police and I was afraid for the safety of my family and myself,
s The reason why I asked the Attorney-General to approve my renunciation
' is that my family was at Tule Lake and I was worried about them,
' I wanted to remain in the United States but as I was in North Dakota I
' thought that if I did not apply for repatriation the Youths' Organization
'would get word of it at Tule Lake and make things uncomfortable for my
family,

S The reason why I told the Immigration and “aturalization Patrol
| Inspector that I looked up the United States as an enemy country is as
{ follows: I wanted to pledge loyalty to the United States and live there
\/ i but with the existence of such people as “r, Saito, the Youths' Organization
| and the Japanese Military Police I believe that if I did not say that I

S—




looked upon the United States as an enemy country I would be mal-treated
if not killed by the Japanese Military Police in the event I was sent
back to Japan. I also feared for the safety of my family at Tule Lake
and thought that by saying the United States was an enemy country to me

| I would be saving them from the vengeance of the Youths' Organization,

| T was just like a slave and a hostage of the Youths' Organization,

! passing away fearful days alone at North Dakota.

~  Mr. Itabashi and Mr. Saito approached me and stated that it would
| be of disadvantage to me if I did not join the Youths' Organization., I
despised such organization but the Youths! Organization grew by day and
| became very powerful and Mr, Itabashi and Mr. Saito continued to pester
| me in joining the organization with threats that by doing so I would be
| securing my life. The Youths' Organization gained more power until they
reached a stage where they thought they were part of the Japanese Army by
parading every morning with bugles blowing on the street where I was
. living. That is when I started to hear rumors about their brutality. My
| wife became very scared and asked me why Mr, Itabashi kept on visiting me.
I was afraid and to assure my family's and my own safety I had no alterna-
' tive but to join the Youths! Organization., I was made an official of the
| organization for a short period of time but it was against my wish and was
‘f’forced upon me, I held that position in name only and did not take any
| active part, I have never attempted to influence others nor have I led
'%tfgzor made speeches to members of the organization. Mr, Yanai and Mr,
¢\ Nishiyama, Shinji who are presently residing in the United States would
be able to verify this,

il

Hoping that the above answers will suffice, I remain

Very respectfully yours,
Tnadasil fa/
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AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

. This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,

- and the time, place and occasion for the making. of the threats should be given. A ; \

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

1. Name George Masaru Doi Date of Birth 10 March 1912 [~

2. If born prior to December 1, 1924 | (A) Haye you ever renounced Japanese When Where
nationality? N6 T thought there no absoluyte need of

—renouncing Japanese |citizenship, because I determined to live permanently in |

3. If born since December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date Purpose
My mother TookK me TO Japan in The hope of giving

From 1918 To 1926 me
1929 1931 sire, Perhaps, in t@e’interest of m%'ggrqgnen¥

visible for me to learn the ;s
Japanese custpms and manners

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan: The education I received in Japan was mostly

wnavt g
R i R pr%crgoao{ly ROR@QL. Period of Attendance

Imamichi Primary School, Yamaguchi City 1918 e 1924

Imamichi Higher Primary School, Yamaguchi 1924 1926
City

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

Morals, arithmetlic, history, geography, science, Japanese, music, gymnastics,
drawing, handcraft, and penmanship.,

6. Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan?... Y&S... If so, give date mt&(?) ........................ , and your reasons for so
applying: 1

See attached sheet

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified .| Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you
allegiance to the United States? would swear unqualified allegiance? Yes see
3

attanhad aland
S oo CHCO— SRttt

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? If so, give your reasons:

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and express your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you?...... S If so, state
when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor:

See attached sheet




Page 2

(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake?................ If so, give reasons:
Because of the unspeakable and unsolutary temperature at Yuma, I felt muc

anxiety about the health of my wife who was then pregnant with Tetsuo, my
eldest son, and about that of mine who had an attack of a fever soon affter our
arrival the Yuma Centre., Therefore, in the thought that it would be better
for both of us to be moved to the Tule Lake Centre, I expressed my unwilling-
ness to swear unqualified allegiance to U.S.

8. (A) FAprud Deciodof

Membership

Z
°

WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS: Yes

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California : <

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)

Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)

Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)

Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)

Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan) S

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)

Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)

Northwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo:Japanese War)-
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples

Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)

Hokoku Seinen-Dan

104l

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan
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Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan

Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan - 1 945 =46

- (B) Give reasons for becoming a member: . 3 <

At the pursuasion by Itabashi, 67, 16E, Tule Lake, Newell, Calif., who wap
a member, I joined that organization without the slightest knowledge of it
being an illegal organization, but in time it fell under the control of leaderpg
and became a big mass movement and members became just as sheep controlled by
leaders who were political minded and were out to get privilege and power for
themselves.

I was told I'd be repatriated to Japan and being a member would assure me
of more favorable treatment in Japan than non-members would be treated and thag
the group would prepare us for life in Japan through lectures and physical
exercises. Also I was told that there was danger that those who wouldn't be-
come members might be impressed into a work battalion by the U.S. government
and would be treated as underpald slave ldorers but that members as a large
group would have bargaining power to avoid such a thing. I fell for this line
of talk at the time,

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held:

See attached sheet

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:

Srexatiarkrdxshrety

See answer to 8(B) for answer to this question




6. ' I was evacuated with my wife and baby daughter Masako (born June 5
1941°) from Los Angeles to the Yuma Center, Poston, Arizona in March 19&2.

The facilities at Poston were very poor. The temperature averaged about

130 degrees. My baby daughter Masako died on June 15, 1942 of acute con=
gestive heart failure after suffering of a week. It was beyond my under-
standing why we were detalned in such a place despite the fact I had American
citizenship. « 'The unbearably high temperature and fears arising out of many
apprehensions: ‘almost drove me crazy. . There were rumors we'd be confined

for the duration of the war, rumors of forcible relocation to live in a

new community where we would face discrimination and hostility and rumors of
family separation and rumors of eventual deportation. The fears I had were
the ‘same in Tule Lake. Everything looked hopeless. Agitators were res-
ponsible 'for ‘the rumors and the WRA couldn't promise relief from our fears.

7(A) 'We were. in Poston, living in Block 21, at the time of the Army-WRA
questionnaire, Agitation, rumors and gossip in camp and my fears compelled
me to’ refuse to answer questions 27 and 28. I had registered as a loyal
citizen for the draft in Alhambra, California, in October 1940 and was
classified 3-<A. Later came evacuation and I lost everything. I was resent-
ful: 'of being treated like an alien, hurt because of the death of my baby
daughter, suffering because of the intense 130 degree heat. The agltators
and rumors alarmed me. The reports of Japanese outside of camp being attacked
and of homes being burned created a deep sense ‘of fear''that if one were

sent outside we'd come to be harmed and would be refused employment, A

gang of 'radicals in Poston were so opposed to the questionnaire that they
beat up people in the shower room and shaved their heads if they gave "yes"
answers. ‘The rumors swept camp ‘that If we dnswered 'yes" to 27 which was
volunteering for Army duty we'd be treated as menials and be used as cannon
fodder because the Army didn't ‘ecare for us.  If we answered "yes" to 23 it
was rumored it would mean forcible relocating to a new community to face
Caucasian discrimination, ‘hostility and violence,' Also there were rumors

if we answered "no" or refused to answer we would be sent to another center wlere
at least the weather would be ‘cooler, -1 didn't wish torvolunteer for the
Army either as it would mean separation 'from my wife and I would not know
what would become of her. We were in no financial or mental condition to
relocate either because of the public's hatred of us, 1Ididn't wish to be
disloyal to U.S. so I refused to answer,

7(B) I would have 'if we ‘had not been forced into camp as if we were alien
enemies and had our rights taken away. Later on I changed my mind and de-
sired to swear unqualified allegiance but didn't get the chance because in
the Tule Lake Center, the Hoshl Dan and Seinen Dan kept the membership under
strict surveillance and woulc¢ have inflicted bodily punishment on me if I
triea to go to the WRA and swear alleglance.

8(C) At the outset I was just an ordinary member and for several months went
to morning exercises when I was free from my work as a kitchen helper in the
messhall. Also I went to 4-5 lectures which were mostly about confinement
and hearsay about what was going to happen to us.

For being a member I was sent ‘to Bismarck, North Dakota on Feb. 11, 1945,
In Bismarck the group held an election 4in July 1945, wasn't present. " An
officer (I don't-recall who' it ‘was) told me I was elected ‘chairman or chief
of" the lecture training department, ' I''said I didn't want the job and if I
had been elected I resigned. I hadn't even been consulted about such a post
and as I had a poor educational background I felt I wasn't qualified.
Several times I told the group I wanted to be released from the post but was
told my request was rejected as they needed to keep up the semblance of
still being an organization, However, I did not give any speech or address
the members as a group as I would not even know how or what to say. So I
was just a nominal chairman or chief of the lecture training. The Dan was
under complete control in Bismarck by the Immigration Service officers and
couldn't carry on as it had in Tule Lake so it wasn't really an organization
at all anymore after arriving in Bismarck.
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8(F) 1In Tule Lake it"was just impossible to resign membership because I
neard that they beat up anybody who tried to resign. The officers were
saylng so. There had been some beatings that had taken place 1n the stock-
ade too I heard. The leaders had stated that anyone who resigned would be
reported to the Japanese government and on arriving in Japan would be subject
to punishment. And in Bismarck I was afraid to resign as I thought I might
be attacked and beaten in the dark if I did. So I never got up enough
courage to resign because of my fears.

9(A) I believe it was about early January 1945, I do not recall writing

for the fmm form or filling in a form and so I believe the Hoshi Dan people

made the request for me because I had not yet made up my mind. Mr, Itabashi,

nicei. in my block, and Mr. Hinoki, Kibel, ‘and ‘a number of Issel had been

after me and told me I must decide now or I cannot renounce at all and I

would be pulled out and beaten up 1n front of everybody to serve as an

example to others., I was told this at the last physical exerclse 1 attended

at the firebreak one morning and those of us who had not decided to renounce

were told to raise our hands and I did mak and when I was threatened 1 was

more afraid of ‘the group than ever before. SO T knew I'd be beaten if I _

didn't renounce. My wife was very upset over this too and I was afraid of what =

would happen to them if I got seriously hurt. After that many Issei, Kibel

and Nisei asked me if I was going to renounce which scared me all the more.
A1l during this renunciation time we were scared by the reports and

rumors that if we citizens didn't renounce we might be compelled to leave the

Center and take a chance of being resettled in a new area. We were afrald

of being sent out of Tule Lake with our young son Tetsuo. There wasn't

any place we could go where we could feel safe. Caucasians didn't want

Japanese settled in thelr communities and many Japanese were attacked and

some of their homes were dynamited and burned. We hadn't any funds to get re- §

established and no relatives or friends who could help us get re-established. &

We were afraid of having to leave the Center during the war under the cir- e

cumstances. . Lverybody had the belief it was necessary to renounce so families

could’stay in the Center as allens under Justice Department protection until A

the war ended or we were removed to Japan, It was the general belief that if &

we were sent to Japan without renouncing the Japanese government would 2

place us in concentration camps oOr send us to prison., The Hoshi Dan leaders

threatened this would happen to us.

ol
Y
5

9(E) As my application was submitted in the form of mass applic¢ation by the
organization, I.did not take any action to retraet it for fear of subsequent:
sanction's. The another reason is that as 1t/§mpossib1e to foresee when
such a fearful condition would termlnate, 1 was extremely solicitous about
the future of my family.

If such fears had not continued, I would have gladly cancelled my
application, However, I was afraid of sanctions which were sure to be
inflicted upon me in mampd case of my taking action to cancel it against
the will of the organization., I was, 1ndeed, in such a worry that I could
not bring myself to make efforts for the cancellation.

With a view to cancelling my applicaion, I applied to Fukuoka Consulate
for passage to U.S., but I was informed that the application could not be
accepted. I have made application for cancellation through Mr, Wayne M.
Collins, attorney at law, residing Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street, San Fran-
cisco Y4, California. On the other hand I have also submittzd an application
for cancellation through Fukuoka Consuate.
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

See attached sheet

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing:

See.attached sheet

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:

I was advised to give disloyal reasons so my answers are different,
I told the hearing officer I am a Japanese and was loyal to Japan and
wanted to renounce my citizenship.

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation: :

It was my fear of harm from the Dan group in Tule Lake and of the
Dan causing me and my family to be punished in Japan if we landed in
Japan without our citizenship and of being forced sooner or later to relocate
if we didn't renounce, as I explained in answer to Question 9(A), Itabashi,
Saito and the rest of the leaders made sure I went to my hearing and I was
afraid of them,

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:

See attached sheet
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet
if necessary. \

It was because I Thought that all the Japanese would be repatriated
sooner or later considering they were segregated to various centres despite
of their American citizenship.

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

My first baby daughter Masako died in Yuma of illness.. I was sent to
Bismarck, North Dakota, separated from my wife, sé6n Tetsuo who was 1 year
old, and baby Katsuichi who was borm Oct. 10, 1945 at Tule. I felt great
anxiety about them. I thought the only way we could be reunited was if
I was returned to Japan. We were reunited on the boat in February 1946,

I worked for the U.S. Army in Japan from 1946 to March 27, 1955.

NO

Answer Yes or No

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?

If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor.

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on inghiel e S g S Atke v -eeeeeeiy my Serial number is....
i 3 i : State the date € ial dC =k Statethe BranchioESEVICE . 4 1 I se SNt SV 7 adbe b

I still am in such service..... eeeee3 I was released from active duty on i and received my Discharge
Answer Yes or No . :

on

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you. |

)

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
for the rejection if known to you.

12. If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Service Serial Number

, (Signature in full of applicant)

13th 4oy of August ;1987

Subscribed and sworn to before me this

R RnT

Wm. Dixon /
American Vice Consul

This affidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.




AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given. .

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

1. Name Date of Birth

George Masaru Dei _ March 10, 1912

2. If born prior to December 1,1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced apanese When

nationality? g, thought there was no a W'Tftu need of
renouncing Japanese (¢itizenship because termined to live permanently in UiS,

3. If born since December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
: nationality? "

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date

To 1925

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan: The ’“W‘E;OQ ir .3:1"‘ in J‘{ &n wWas m‘bly

Period of Attendance

From ]—.2; s To 19“ ,
— 198 1926

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

Morals, arithmetic, histo geography, science, Japenese, music, gymnsstics
draviné, hnndcrafz: and pfginnahfz. ; ’ g 4 i r

6. Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan?..
applying:

See attached sheet,

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you
allegiance to the United States? would swear unqualified allegiance?

Yes, see attached sheet. No

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? ue If so, give your reasons:

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and ex; ‘our willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you? If so, state
when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor:

See attached sheet,




(C) Did };ou ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressy or by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake? If so, give reasons:

Page 2

ause of the unhealthy living conditions and unsalutary temperasure
ﬁzgtnn:, i felt much &nzieby about the‘health of my wife. Cur daughter
died at Yuma Center in June 1942, :

1 thought another Center would be Latter. See reasons in answer %o
question 7(A)s

8. (A) Period of.
WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS: Membership

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)

Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)

Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)

Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)

Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan) ;

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)

Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)

Neorthwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples

Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)

Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan

Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan

Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan

F+ selelnelne | e|ne|ne| unH-uuauuuuuuu Z

- (B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

See attached sheet,

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held:

‘.‘sie attached sheet.

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:

See answer to 8(B) for answer to this gquestion.




George Masaru Doi

6:

I was evacuated with my wife and baby daughter Masako (born June 5,
1941) from Los Angeles to the Yuma Center, Poston, Arizona in March
1942. The facilities at Poston were very poor. The temperature
averaged about 130 degrees. My baby daughter Masako died on June
15, 1942 of acute congestive heart failure after suffering for a
week, It was beyond my understanding why we were detained in such

a place despite the fact I had American citizenship. The unbearably
high temperature and fears arising out of many apprehensions almost
drove me crazy. There were rumors we'd be confined for the duration
of the war, rumors of forcible relocation to live in a new community
where we would face discrimination and hostility and rumors of family
separation and rumors of eventual deportation, The fears I had were
the same in Tule Lake. Everything looked hopeless. Agitators were
responsible for the rumors and the WRA couldn't promise relief from
our fears.

A Hokoku Youths' Organization was formed and this organization was
very powerful and the persons who had not applied for repatriation
were considered to be disloyal and treated like animals to do with
as they saw fit.

I was at Bismarck, North Dakota, when I made the second request;
and my wife and children were at Tule Lake. I was worried about my
family. I wanted to live in the United States and return to the
place where I lived before evacuation but there had been stories

I heard through camp life about homes of Japanese persons being
burned and my brother's car and furniture were burned. Having
heard so much about this kind of treatment, it built up in my mind
that persons like myself were castouts., But even so I believe if

I had been offered release from internment when I was at Bismarck

I would have been glad for such release from camp and the atmosphere
which was filled with pro-Japanese thinking and conduct. To remain
interned in the camp meant being under constant watchful eyes of
the Youths' organization and the lives of those who pledged loyalty
to the United States and who did not apply for repatriation tc Japan
were in danger. Those who belonged in the bad group, such as Mr.
Akatsukasa, Mr. Itabashi and Mr. Saito were arrogant and oppressive
and other internees feared them. Under such conditions and with my
wife and children at Tule Lake, I thought that not only could the
ringleaders makg it rough for me but word could get back to Tule
and my family/% guble could be made for my family. I believed I
should do the safest thing to get reunited with my family and then
when we could be together in safety maybe later we could figure
things out some better way than this.

7(4):

While I was at camp I thought that I would be sent back to Japan

and that if I did not pledge loyalty to Japan I would be maltreated
by the Japanese Military Police. When I previously resided in Japan
I had heard and knew of many cases of people being ill-treated;
people being sent to the coal mines for the rest of their lives,
people being shot to death, and many other atrocities by the
Japanese Military Police. I gave negative answers thinking of my
family's and my safety.
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7(A) continued:

We were in Poston, living in Block 21, at the time of the question-
naire. Agitation, rumors and gossip prevailed in camp. I had
registered as a loyal citizen for the draft in Alhambra, California,
in October, 1940 and was classified 3-A. Later came evacuation and
I lost everything. I was resentful of being treated like an alien.
The agitators and rumors alarmed me. The reports of Japanese out-
side of camp being attacked and of homes being burned created a
real scare and thoughts went through my mind that if a person were
gent outside he'd come to be harmed and would be refused a liveli-
ood.

A gang of radicals in Poston were so opposed to the questionnaire
that they beat up people in the shower room and shaved their heads
if they gave "yes" answers. The rumors swept camp that if we
answered "yes" to 27 which was volunteering for Army duty, we'd be
treated as menials and be used as cannon fodder because the Army
didn't care for us. If we answered "yes" to 28 it was said it would
mean forcible relocating to a new community to face Caucasian dis-
crimination, hostility and violence. I did not wish to be separated
from my wife and not know what would become of her. We were in no
financial or mental condition to relocate either because of the
public bad treatment, {

7(B):

I would have if we had not been forced into camp as if we were alien
enemies and had our rights taken away. Later on I changed my mind
and desired to swear unqualified allegiance but didn't get the

chance because in the Tule Lake Center, the Hoshi Dan and Seinen Dan
kept the membership under strict surveillance and would have in=-
flicted bodily punishment on me if I tried to go to the WRA and swear
allegiance,

8(B):

Mr. Itabashi and Mr. Saito approeched me and said it would be of.
disadvantage to me if I did not join the organization. I did not
like it but the group grew by day and became very powerful and Mr, .
ltabashi and Mr. Saito continued to pester me into joining, with
talk that if I did so I would be securing my life. The Youths!'
Organization gained more power until they reached a fanatic stage,
parading, blowing bugles where I was living. And then the rumors
about the brutality were circulating. My wife became frightened
and asked me why Mr. Itabashi kept on visiting me. I really got
worried and thought 1 better join the group for my family's and
my own safety.

At first the group had not appeared to be fanatic but as time went
on, with demonstrations, etc., there was no mistake about it - and
then it was too late. The members were like sheep, under rule of

the agitators.

8(C):

At the outset I was just an ordinary member and for several months
went to morning exercises when I was free from my work as a kitchen
helper in the messhall., Also I went to 4-5 lectures which were
mostly about confinement and hearsay about what was going to happen
to us,.
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8(C) continued:

For being a member I was sent to Bismarck, North Dakota on Feb. 11,
1945, In Bismarck the group held an election in July 1945. I
wasn't present. An officer (I don't recall who it was) told me I
was elected chairman or chief of the lecture training department.

I said I didn't want the job and if I had been elected I resigned,
I hadn't even been consulted about such a post and as I had a poor
educational background I felt I wasn't qualified. Several times I
told the group I wanted to be released from the post but was told
my request was rejected as they needed to keep up the semblance of
still being an organization. However, I did not give any speech
or address the members as a group as I would not even know how or
what to say. So I was just a nominal chairman or chief of the
lecture training. The Dan was under complete contrel in Bismarck
by the Immigration Service officers and couldn't carry on as it had
in Tule Lake so it wasn't really an organization at a{l anymore
after arriving in Bismarck.

8(F):

In Tule Lake it was just impossible to resign membership because I
heard that they beat up anybody who tried to resign. The officers
were saying so., There had been some beatings that had taken place
in the stockade too 1 heard. The leaders had stated that anyone
who resigned would be reported to the Japanese government and on
arriving in Japan would be subject to punishment. And in Bismarck
I was afraid to resign as I thought I might be attacked and beaten
in the dark if I did. 5o I never got up enough courage to resign
because of my fears.

9(A):

I believe it was about early January 1945. 1 do not recall writing
for the form or filling in a form and so I believe the Hoshi Dan
people made the request for me because I had not yet made up my :
mind. Mr., Itabashi, Nisei in my block, and Mr. Hinoki, Kibei, and
a number of Issei had been after me and told me I must decide now
or I cannot renounce at all and I would be pulled out and beaten up
in front of everybody to serve as an example to others. I was told
this at the last physical exercise I attended at the firebreak one
morning and those of us who had not decided to renounce were told
to raise our hands and I did and when 1 was threatened I was more
afraid of the group than ever before. So I knew 1'd be beaten if I
didn't renounce. My wife was very upset over this too and I was
afraid of what would happen to them if I got seriously hurt. After
that many Issei, Kibei and Nisei asked me if I was going to renounce
which scared me all the more.

All during this renunciation time we were scared by the reports and
rumors that if we citizens didn't renounce we might be compelled to
leave the Center and take a chance of being resettled in a new area.
We were afraid of being sent out of Tule Lake with our young son
Tetsuo. There wasn't any place we could go where we could feel

safe. Caucasians didn't want Japanese settled in their communities
and many Japanese were attacked and some of their homes were dynamited
and burned. We hadn't any funds to get re-established and no rela-
tives or friends who could help us get re-established. We were
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George Masaru Doi

9(A) continued:

afraid of having to leave the Center during the war under the cir-
cumstances. Everybody had the belief it was necessary to renounce
so families could stay in the Center as aliens under Justice De-
partment protection until the war ended or we were removed to Japan.
It was the general belief that if we were sent to Japan without re-
nouncing the Japanese government would place us in concentration
camps or send us to prison. The Hoshi Dan leaders threatened this
would happen to us.

9(B):

It was carefully outlined to me from before the hearing that I must
give statements of loyalty to Japan. I believed that the reaction
in camp to not doing so and not getting approval would be strong
and the agitator leaders would have me molested and the treatment
would be rough.

Also Mr, Saito informed me that the Youths' Organization would re-
port those who said unfavorable things about Japan to the Japanese
Military Police. I was afraid that if I did not say favorable things
about Japan I would be maltreated by the Japanese agents when [

was sent to Japan. I thought I had better look after the safety

of my family.

9{(C):

It was my fear of harm from the Dan group in Tule Lake and of the
Dan causing me and my family to be punished in Japan if we landed

in Japan without our citizenship and of being forced sooner or later
to relocate if we didn't renounce, as I explained in answer to
Question 9(A). Itabashi, Saito and the rest of the leaders made
sure I went to my hearing and I was afraid of them.

I asked for approval of renunciation at the time I was at Bismarck
and my wife and children were at Tule Lake. I was constantly.
worried about them, possibility of indefinite separation, ete. I
thought that if by openly seeking approval and then making request
for repatriation, I would not be suspected by the organization g
group, that my safety and the safety of my family would not be risked.

In an interview in May, 1945, with Immigration Inspector, I made
pro-Japanese statements, just as I believed it was necessary when I
had renunciation hearing. With the existence of such people and
their influence as Mr. Saito, the Youths' Organization and the warn-
ings in my mind about the Japanese Military Police, I thought that
if 1 did not say such things at the interview I would be mistreated,
if not executed, by the Japanese agents upon arriving in Japan. I
was at North Dakota and my family was at Tule Lake, and I wished to
protect them from any reprisals, My mind was pressed where I could
say anything, which made no sense in one way, but at the same time
with safety at stake and being a castout citizen I thought it would
be foolish to take any chances, and I believed I could not alter
the way I was being pushed into.

9(E):

As my application was submitted in the form of mass application by
the organization, I did not take any action to retract it for fear

of subsequent sanctions. Another reason is that as it was impossible
to foresee when such a fearful condition would terminate, I was ex-
tremely solicitous about the future of my family,




George Masaru Doi

9(E) continued:

If such fears had not continued, I would have gladly cancelled my
application. However, I was afraid of sanctions which were sure to
be inflicted upon me in case of my taking action to cancel it

against the will of the organization. I was, indeed, in such a

wgrry that I could not bring myself to make efforts for the cancella-
tion.

With a view to cancelling my application, I applied to Fukuoka
Consulate for passage to U. 5., but I was informed that the applica=-
tion could not be accepted. I have made application for cancella-
tion through Mr., Wayne M. Collins, attorney-at-law, residing Mills
Tower, 220 Bush Street, San Francisco 4, California., On the other
hand I have also submitted an application for cancellation through
Fukuoka Consulate, -
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your

acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

See attached sheet.

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing:

See attached sheet.

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:

- See attached sheet.

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:

See attached sheet.

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:

Jee attached sheet,
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet
if necessary.

It was because 1 thought that all the Japanese would be repatriasted
sooner or later considering they were segregated to vericus centres
despite of their American citizenship.

*‘

"
|
]

£y
10. (A) If you now are in .}apan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

My first baby daughter Masako died in Yums of illness. I was sent to
Bismarck, North Dakota, separated from my wife, son Tetsuo who was 1 year
old, and 5iby Kazsuichi who was born Oet. 10, £9b5 at Tule. 1 felt great
énxiety about them, I thought the only way we could be reunited was if

i was returned to Japan. We were reunited on the boat in February 1946,

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any acticn to resume or acquire Japanese citizenébip? s 3 ﬁuo..
swer es or o

If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor.

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on in the 3 my Serial number is
State the date State the Branch of Service

I still am in such service ; I was released from active duty on and received my Discharge
Answer Yes or No

on

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you.

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
for the rejection if known to you.

12. If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Service Serial Number

Japan
Prefecture of Fukuoka )
City of Fukuoka SS: ../s/ Masaru_ Doi

; J E l II > | a (Signature in full of applicant)

> 8
States c)fSu sc?ige]aca%d sworn to before me this 22ndd"y of Nay i s

U.S. Consulate Seal :
Fukuoka, Japan /s/ Wm. Dixon
American Vice Consul

This affidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.




AFFIDAVIT OF GEORGE MASARU DCI
(Supplement To Affidavit Dated May 22, 1958)

I was living with my wife Misao and our baby daughter in Poston
when 1 first became acquainted with Mr. and Mrs. Arashige. Our
daughter Masako passed away in Poston on June 15, 1942. Mr, and Mrs.
Arashige also were transferred to Tule Lake and lived in Block 67
where I lived with my wife and our child Tetsuo who was born in the
Tule Lake Center on March 23, 1944. Our next child Katsuichi was
born in Tule Lake on October 10, 1945, while I was in internment.

I used to visit the Arashiges and they used to visit us up to
the time I became a member of the Dan. They had been long time
friends of Tachibana and Uchida, who were the big leaders of the
Dan. Mr. Arashige told me he was afraid of them and that they had
put pressure on him and he was afraid of them. Because he was a
friend of Tachibana and Uchida I thought I better keep away from
the Arashiges even though they knew that I was a member and that I
was renouncing my citizenship as I didn't wish to tell them how afraid
I was of the Dan leaders for fear I would fall under the leaders
suspicion and get hurt. So I had to keep away from the Arashiges
as there was no telling whether I could trust them. I didn't want
them to get the idea that I was against the leaders for fear they
would let it be known to the leaders so I had to let them know 1
was a member and that I was renouncing my citizenship. But I didn't
influence either Mr. or Mrs. Arashige to renounce their citizenship
and I was not "out to get"™ them or cause them any trouble and they
didn't have any reason to hold any fear of me. Being as they were
friends of Tachibana and Uchida I was afraid they could cause me
trouble if I said or did anything to show that I was in fear of the
Dan leaders. I told them that I covld not be seen to be friendly
with them because Itabashi and Saito had told me that members must
not associate with persons who were not members or we'd be suspect-
ed of spying on the Dan leaders and I told them I was afraid it
could mean trouble for them and that I didn't wish to get them in
trouble or me and my wife in trouble either.

Shigeru Kosako lived in the next apartment to mine in the Tule
Lake Center. I came to know him and he and I both worked in the
mess hall. I do not know whether or not he joined the organization
before I did. Mr. Kosako frequently visited me in my room and I
myself visited him at his room and helped him with some carpentry
work. I remember him telling me that he was influenced by his in-
laws to decide for repatriation. He told me that he didn't want to
go to Japan but that he had to or his family would be broken up and
that he didn't want to be sent out of the camp during those days
while the war was going on because of the public feeling against
Japanese and that he didn't want to be put in dutch with the Japanese
authorities and that the way things were going on in camp he didn't
wish to get intc trouble with the block residents who were all in
favor or renocuncing because of the rumors and reports going around
the camp and didn't want to go against the crowd. He knew from our
talks how I got sucked into the Dan by Saito and Itabashi and couldn't
get out because of my fearing to be beat up and of getting reported
to the Japanese government but I didn't tell him "to renounce immedi-
ately” and 1 didn't threaten to beat him up., We both had the same
fears and expressed them to each other on more than one occasion 8o
I am surprised thet he says that I teld him to renocunce immediately
and was among the persons who threatened to beat him up if he didn't,




Masaru Doi

I cannot recollect of having known any person by the name of
Toshiko Naito but when I was living in the United States I was ac-
quainted with a Naito of Hiroshima Prefecture with whom I worked at
the Lemon Company for nine years. If she should be the younger
sister of Mr. Naito, I came to meet her and Mr. Naito by chance
at Tule Lake where I was sent to from Poston after the outbreak of
the war. Though we were in the same camp, the Naitos and I were
living about a mile apart and 1 met them on only two other brief
occasions. I do not know whether or not she was a member of the
women's organization or whether she renounced her citizenship and
a8 I had hardly spoken to her at all I certainly never told her to
renounce and be repatriated to Japan.

I do not know of any Tsubakimotos but a family of three who
were living in the next room to mine at Tule Lake called their son
Toshio so I think it must be this person. I have never persuaded
nor intimidated him to renounce or to repatriate to Japan and if he
renounced and repatriated I guess it must have been because his
parents forced him to do it. I myself, having a wife and child,
was afraid of the organization.

I was persuaded on many occasions by Mr. Itabashi and %ﬁ Jaito

to join the pro-Japanese organization. As I lived in the/3108k with

them and thinking that it would be unwise for me alone to g0 agdinst

them, I unwillingly became a member of that organization., Therefore,

I have never persuaded nor influenced anyone to join the organization

or to renounce his or her citizenship. My name has been made use of
by these persons and I am willing to face any of them.,

/8/ Masaru Doi

George Masaru UDoi

Subsceribed and sworn to before me this 28th

—~Qctober » 1958,

day of

/8/ A« R. Roan, Jr,

Ao Re Ro&n. Jrc
V ,

American in and for Fukuoka, Japan

UsS, Consulate General Seal
Fukuoka, Japan Service No. 8145

Tariff No. 45
Fee Paid: U.8, $2.50
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